
MEETING OF HARLOW COUNCIL 
 

7.30 pm on Thursday, 1 February 2018 
 

In the Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the 

agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2017. 

 
4. Communications from the Chair   
 
5. Election of Leader of the Council   
 
 The Chair will call for nominations for appointment of Leader of the 

Council (if there is more than one nomination, there will be a vote in the 
usual way). 
 
The Chair will declare the successful nominee to be elected. 
 

6. Appointment to the Cabinet   
 
 The Chair will call for the Leader to announce his/her Deputy Leader and 

appointments to the Cabinet. 
 

7. Appointment to Committees, Sub-Committees and Panels  (Pages 9 - 10) 
 
 The Chair will call for nominations to vacant positions on the list of 

Appointments to Committees, Sub-Committees. 
 

8. Appointment of Council Representatives on Outside Bodies   
(Pages 11 - 12) 

 
 The Chair will call for nominations for appointment to vacant positions on 

the list of Council representatives on outside bodies. 
 

9. Petitions from the Public   
 
10. Questions from the Public   
 

Public Document Pack



11. Questions from Councillors   
 
12. Motions from Councillors   
 
 a) Houses of Multiple Occupation   

 
  Proposed by Councillor Danny Purton (seconded by Councillor 

Mike Danvers): 
 
This Council will oppose the conversion of family homes into 
Houses of Multiple Occupation where it threatens social cohesion, 
and will use whatever means necessary including enforcement of 
covenants to defend our communities. 
 
We recognise the housing needs of all sections of the community 
and will accept appropriate HMO conversions where it is not 
opposed by neighbouring residents. 
 
We call on the Council to bring forward a procedure which will 
guide officers in the implementation of this policy.  
 

13. References from Cabinet and Committees   
 
 a) Referral from Licensing Committee - Tinted Windows in Private 

Hire Vehicles  (Pages 13 - 54) 
 

  The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that the 
Licensed Vehicle Standards regarding tinted windows in Private 
Hire Vehicles be amended to permit tinted glass windows, provided 
that they are only supplied as standard by the original vehicle 
manufacturer and comply with current vehicle Construction and 
Use Regulations 1986 (as amended) with respect to the fitting of 
tinted, opaque, darkened or privacy glass windows. Do-it-yourself 
window tint film kits are not permissible. 
 

 b) Referral from Licensing Committee - Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Enforcement Policy  (Pages 55 - 65) 

 
  The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that the 

revised and updated Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Enforcement Policy, as set out in Appendix 2 of the report, be 
approved, subject to the following amendments under the heading 
of ‘Licensing Sub-Committee’: 
 

A The fourth bullet point under ‘where cases are referred to the 
Licensing Sub-Committee, the Licensing Team will:’ be 
amended to read: 
 
‘Allow the licence holder (with or without representation) the 
opportunity to address the Sub-Committee to present his/her 



case and provide supporting evidence.’; 
 

B The final paragraph to read: 
 

‘In situations where immediate action is required to secure 
public safety, or the licensing authority is unable to convene a 
Licensing Sub-Committee within a reasonable time, the  
Environment and Licensing Manager shall, under delegated 
authority and in consultation with the Chair or Vice-Chair of the 
Licensing Committee, take action.’ 

 
 c) Referral from Licensing Committee - Driver Assessment  (Pages 

66 - 72) 
 

  The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that 
proposals for additional providers of driver assessment in accord 
with DVSA criteria for the purposes of Hackney Carriage and 
private hire driver licensing, as set out in paragraph 7 of the report, 
be approved. 
 

 d) Referral from Cabinet - Corporate Plan 2018/19 (to follow)  
 

 e) Referral from Cabinet - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 
(to follow)   

 
 f) Referral from Cabinet - General Fund Budget 2018/19 (to follow)   

 
 g) Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

2017-2047 (to follow)   
 

 h) Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Budget 
2018/19 (to follow)   

 
 i) Referral from Cabinet - Capital Programmes 2017/18 - 2022/23  

(to follow)   
 

 j) Referral from Cabinet - Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 
(to follow)   

 
 k) Referral from Cabinet - New Governance Arrangements for the 

Approval of the Council's Statement of Accounts (to follow)   
 

 l) Referral from Cabinet - Working Groups, Parties and Panels  
(to follow)   

 
14. Reports from Officers   
 
 a) Appointment of Managing Director  (Pages 73 - 75) 

 



15. Minutes of Cabinet and Committee Meetings   
 
 To note the following Cabinet and Committee minutes: 

 
 a) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 7 December 2017 of Cabinet  

(Pages 76 - 83) 
 

 b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 13 December 2017 of 
Development Management Committee  (Pages 84 - 85) 

 
 c) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 17 January 2018 of Development 

Management Committee  (Pages 86 - 88) 
 

 d) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 23 January 2018 of Licensing 
Committee (to follow)   

 
16. Matters of Urgent Business   
 



 

MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL 

HELD ON 

 

14 December 2017 7.30  - 7.41 pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

COUNCILLORS 

 
OFFICERS 

Maggie Hulcoop (Vice-Chair) 
 

Lisa Thornett, Customer 
Services Officer 
Janet Jackson, Corporate and 
Governance Support Team 
Leader 
Jane Greer, Head of 
Community Wellbeing 
 

Ian Beckett 
David Carter 
Simon Carter 
Joel Charles 
Jon Clempner 
Karen Clempner 
Mike Danvers 
Tony Durcan 
Waida Forman 
Michael Garnett 
Tony Hall 
Mark Ingall 
 

Andrew Johnson 
Eddie Johnson 
Dan Long 
Stefan Mullard 
Russell Perrin 
Danny Purton 
Lanie Shears 
Clive Souter 
John Strachan 
Edna Stevens 
Emma Toal 
Phil Waite 
 

 
58. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bob Davis, Mark 
Wilkinson, Tony Edwards, Sue Livings, Shona Johnson, Nick Churchill and 
Bill Pryor. 
 

59. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

60. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2017 
are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
61. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE CHAIR  

 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop, Vice Chair, explained that she would be Chair 
for the meeting as Councillor Sue Livings is unwell. She informed Council 
that a get well soon card had been sent to Councillor Livings on behalf of all 
her colleagues. She advised that Councillor Livings had asked for her to 
wish everyone a very happy Christmas and a prosperous new year. 
 

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Hulcoop then advised that she had attended the Islamic Centre 
for the Awards evening. She enjoyed the evening and explained that this 
was the third consecutive year that the Islamic Scouts had won.  
 
She also attended the Harlow Education Awards and said what a great 
event it was and how it makes her pride to see the youth of Harlow 
acknowledged in this way.  
 
She also attended the launch of the Action for Family Carers website. She 
encouraged her colleagues to view the website as many of the young carers 
had contributed their ideas to the site. https://affc.org.uk/services/young-
carers  
 
She ended by confirming that, following a Development Management 
Meeting, Councillors had voted unanimously in favour of Public Health 
England. She said it was very exciting news for Harlow and that the people 
of Harlow should benefit from this in the future.  
 
Finally she asked Councillors, if they could spare some time during January 
and February to volunteer as the Churches across Harlow are opening their 
doors in the evening to accommodate the homeless.  
 

62. PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 
None. 
 

63. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 
The questions together with their answers are appended to these minutes.  
 

64. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 
None 
 

65. MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 
None 
 

66. REFERENCES FROM CABINET AND COMMITTEES  

 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner and seconded by Councillor Lanie 
Shears. 
 

RESOLVED that the recommendations on items a) to d) are approved. 
 

a) Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - 
Designation of Licensed Vehicles under the Equality Act 2010 
 

b) Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Fees and Charges Proposals 

6



 
c) Referral from Cabinet on 7 December 2017 - Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement 2017/18: Mid-Year Review 
 

d) Referral from Cabinet on 7 December 2017 - Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme Proposals 2018/19 
 

67. REPORTS FROM OFFICERS  

 
None. 
 

68. MINUTES OF CABINET AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS  

 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted. 
 

a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 10 October 2017 of Scrutiny Committee 
 

b) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 21 November 2017 of Licensing 
Committee 
 

69. MINUTES OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 28 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

70. MINUTES OD AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE, 29 NOVEMBER 

2017 
 

71. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 

 

7



 
 

 
Agenda item 6 refers 
 
1. Mr Hoad, 114 GreenHills to Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the 

Council 
 

At the September 2017 meeting Councillor S Carter asked for a breakdown of 
the 20p charge for car parking when in force and the amount given to charity 
since the charge was replaced. Why is not possible to give this information as 
stated in the written reply to Mr Carter.  

 
Response from Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council. 

 
The 20p charge was not implemented but a voluntary contribution could be 
made.  The Council’s accounts are not structured in a way which will allow me 
to give you a breakdown of the 20p income. However, we are currently 
looking at ways this can be addressed.   

 
2. Mr Hoad, 114 GreenHills to Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the 

Council 

 
With all the new housing planned for the town centre what steps are being 
taken to enforce no cycling in the town centre.  
 
Response from Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council. 
 

We are mindful of the various modes of transport that are used to access the 
town centre and as part of our commitment towards the environment and 
wellbeing of residents we will encourage the use of sustainable transport 
methods, including cycling when visiting Harlow Town Centre.  
 
However, we are mindful that the town centre is a predominately 
pedestrianised area and are aware of an increase in nuisance cyclists which 
could be further exacerbated by an increase in housing supply within the town 
centre. Cycle parking provision is being reviewed and cycle racks will be sited 
in town centre locations closer to cycle paths mitigating the need to ride 
through high pedestrian areas. New Community Safety Officers have been 
recruited with a focus on town and neighbourhood shopping centres to 
enforce against anti-social behaviour and we hope that this new visible 
presence in the town centre will make a significant difference. We will also 
work with the private landlords to ensure there is effective communication 
with residents about responsible cycling. 
 
We will continue to review the issue and look at ways to further discourage 
irresponsible cyclists, which may include looking to introduce a Public Space 
Protection Order. However, prior to the introduction of a Public Space 
Protection Order extensive consultation is required.  

 

 
COUNCIL – 14 December 2017 
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 

Minute Item 63

8



 

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES, PANELS AND 
SUBSTITUTES 2017/18 

 

Audit & Standards Committee (10) 
 

 Hearing Sub-Committee (6) 
 

Karen Clempner (c)  Karen Clempner (c) 

Ian Beckett (vc)  Eddie Johnson (vc) 

Simon Carter  Simon Carter 

Jean Clark   Stefan Mullard 

Mark Ingall  Russell Perrin 

Andrew Johnson   Edna Stevens 

Eddie Johnson  Ian Beckett (sub) 

Stefan Mullard  Mark Ingall (sub) 

Russel Perrin   

Edna Stevens   

Joel Charles (sub)   

Waida Forman (sub)   

Tony Hall (sub)   

Maggie Hulcoop (sub)   
 

  

Scrutiny Committee (10) 
 

 Call-In Sub-Committee (7) 

Bob Davis (c)   David Carter (c) 

David Carter (vc)  Bob Davis (vc)  

Simon Carter  Simon Carter 

Joel Charles  Joel Charles 

Nick Churchill  Maggie Hulcoop 

Maggie Hulcoop  Lanie Shears 

Mark Ingall  Tony Edwards 

Stefan Mullard  Nick Churchill (sub) 

Lanie Shears  Mark Ingall (sub) 

Tony Edwards  Andrew Johnson (sub) 

Ian Beckett (sub)  Stefan Mullard (sub) 

Andrew Johnson (sub)   

Phil Waite (sub)   
 

 
 
 

  

   
   
   
 
 

  

   
   
   
   
 
 
 

  

9

Agenda Item 7



 

   

Licensing Committee (10)  Development Management Committee 
(10) 
  

Lanie Shears (c)  Phil Waite(c) 

Edna Stevens (vc)  Jean Clark (vc) 

Ian Beckett  Bob Davis 

Nick Churchill  Mike Garnett 

Karen Clempner  Maggie Hulcoop 

Mike Garnett  Shona Johnson 

Tony Hall  Sue Livings 

Maggie Hulcoop  Dan Long 

Bill Pryor  Edna Stevens 

John Strachan  John Strachan 

  Simon Carter (sub) 

Licensing Sub-Committee  Tony Hall (sub) 

Licensing Committee members form a pool 
from which individual Licensing Sub-
Committees of 3 members are drawn. 

 Andrew Johnson (Sub) 

  Bill Pryor (sub) 

  Emma Toal (sub) 

  Rod Truan (Sub) 

       

Appointments Panel (3)  Civic Awards Panel (5) 

VACANT (c)  Sue Livings (c) 

Emma Toal (vc)  Maggie Hulcoop (vc) 

Eddie Johnson  Shona Johnson 

Jean Clark (sub)  Bill Pryor 

Andrew Johnson (sub)  Edna Stevens 

Mark Wilkinson (sub)  Karen Clempner (sub) 

  Mike Danvers (sub) 

Chief Executive Appraisal Panel (3)   

VACANT (c)   

Waida Forman (vc)   

Andrew Johnson   

Joel Charles (sub)   

Tony Durcan (sub)   

Edna Stevens (sub)   

   

Harlow Fairness and Diversity 
Partnership (3) 

  

VACANT    

Sue Livings   

Dan Long   

Ian Beckett (sub)   

Nick Churchill (sub)   

Mike Garnett (sub)   

Bill Pryor (sub)   

Emma Toal (sub)   

 

10



                                                                                           
  

COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2017/18  

  
 

OUTSIDE BODY APPOINTMENTS  

Active Harlow Partnership 
 

Karen Clempner 

Age Concern 
 

Bob Davis 

Citizens Advice Bureau 
 

Edna Stevens 

District Councils’ Network 
 

VACANT 

East of England Local Government Association 
 

VACANT 

Emma Toal (substitute) 
 

Essex County Council’s Essex Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Tony Durcan 

Essex Police and Crime Panel 
 

Tony Durcan 
Mike Danvers (substitute) 

 

Fawbert & Barnard Educational Foundation 
 

Tom Newens (29/5/18) 
Eugenie Harvey (25/5/20)  
Sue Livings (12/11/17) 
Joel Charles (25/5/20)  
(3 year terms of office) 

Great Parndon Community Association Board Bob Davis 
 

Harlow Art Trust 
 

Mike Danvers 

Harlow Arts Council 
 

Jean Clark 
Karen Clempner 

 

Harlow Children’s Partnership 
 

Karen Clempner 
John Strachan 

 

Harlow Enterprise  Hub Strategy Group Tony Durcan 
 

Harlow Homelessness Prevention Partnership 
 

Edna Stevens 

Harlow Occupational Health Service 
 

Edna Stevens 

Harlow Recreation Trust Fund – Advisory Panel 
 

(No current vacancies) 

Harlow-Stansted Gateway Transportation Board 
 

VACANT 

 

JVCo Board (Kier Harlow) Danny Purton (observer)  
Jane Greer (Head of Community 

Wellbeing) 
 

11

Agenda Item 8



                                                                                           
  

Leisurezone Partnership Committee 
(formerly Leisurezone Board) 
 

Emma Toal 
Maggie Hulcoop 

 

Local Government Association General 
Assembly 
 

VACANT 

Mike Danvers (substitute) 

Local Government Association District Council’s 
Network Assembly 
 

VACANT 

Tony Durcan 

PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee 
 

Danny Purton 
Tony Durcan (substitute) 

 

Safer Harlow Partnership 
 

Lanie Shears 
Emma Toal 

 

Shopmobility Management Committee 
 

Edna Stevens 

St Johns Arts & Recreation Association 
 

Sue Livings 

Stansted Airport Community Trust Fund 
 

Tony Durcan 

Stansted Airport Consultative Committee 
 

Danny Purton 
Tony Durcan (substitute) 

 

Town Centre Partnership Tony Durcan 
Maggie Hulcoop (substitute) 

 

Veolia Partnership Board 
 

VACANT 

Danny Purton 
Mike Danvers (substitute) 

 

Waste Member Partnership Board and 
IAA Member Working Group 
 

Danny Purton 
VACANT 

West Essex Alliance 
 

VACANT 

Emma Toal (substitute) 
 

Young Concern Trust Emma Toal 
 

 

12



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 23 JANUARY 2018 
 

TITLE: TINTED WINDOWS IN PRIVATE HIRE 
VEHICLES 

 
LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR PRINCIPAL EHO 
(LICENSING) (01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A  That the Licensing Committee considers the information set out in the 

report and appendices and determine whether to recommend to Full 
Council any change of licensing policy with regard to each of the 
options set out at paragraph 11 of the report.   
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council regulates private hire driver, vehicle and operators in 

accordance with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.    
Section 48 allows the Council to license a private hire vehicle where the 
Council is satisfied that the vehicle is; 

 Suitable in type, size and design for use as a private hire vehicle, 

 Not of such design and appearance as to lead any person to believe that 
the vehicle is a hackney carriage, 

 Is in suitable mechanical condition, 

 Safe and, comfortable. 
 
A Council may attach to the grant of a licence such conditions as they consider 
reasonably necessary. 
 

2.  Revised vehicle licence conditions were approved by the Licensing Committee 
on 11 July 2017.  These revised conditions require that all newly licensed 
vehicles must have windows that allow not less than 50% light transmittance.  
Suitable optical equipment was purchased by the Council to measure the light 
transmittance value. This condition replaced the ‘Compliance Test’ requirement 
approved by the Licensing Committee on 20 January 2015 which stated: 
 
Tinted windows usually are not permitted unless these have been fitted at the 
point of manufacture of the vehicle. In any case, passengers in the rear of the 
vehicle must be visible from the outside of the vehicle. Authorised officers of 
Harlow Council Licensing Team must be consulted in any other circumstances.   

13

Agenda Item 13a



This condition has led to uncertainty because it relied on subjective judgement 
and led to a number of vehicles being licensed with ‘privacy glass’ which does 
not allow a person to be seen in the vehicle from outside.  The replacement 
condition is more objective.   
 
The Council has refused to licence vehicles with dark tinted windows under the 
old and revised vehicle conditions.  Vehicle proprietors have elected to change 
vehicle glass under both the old and revised conditions where the vehicle had 
not previously been licensed.  
 

3.  Harlow Private Hire Association petitioned the Licensing Committee in 
November 2017 and asked that the condition be removed.  Signatures were 
gathered for the petition during July 2017 and signed by 91 licensed drivers 
(39% of all licensees).  The Licensing Committee requested that a further 
report be made to address the matters raised by the petition. 
 
In their petition, the Private Hire Association raised the following concerns; 
 
a. That no other licensing authorities are currently imposing conditions to 

restrict the use of tinted windows, 
b. That 2 authorities who had previously introduced conditions on tinted 

windows had reversed their conditions, 
c. That no research findings or statistical data had been made available to the 

Licensing Committee, 
d. The condition will restrict the availability of suitable vehicles, 
e. The condition will bring an end the use of some 8 seat vehicles in Harlow. 
f. That a large operator who licenses Ford Galaxy’s with other licensing 

authorities would need to change their entire fleet of vehicles if subjected to 
the same condition dealing with tinted windows, 

g. Proprietors may choose to licence their vehicle with a neighbouring 
authority, 

h. The Licensing Team is unwilling to issue a list of compliant vehicles, 
i. The petition drew attention to a select list of vehicles and asked that the 

Council clarify whether these vehicles would be eligible to be licensed in the 
future, 

j. That there are advantages to using vehicles fitted with tinted windows which 
have not been recognised by the Council, 

k. The evidence required to support the requirements on grounds of public 
safety had not been established. 

 
4.  The private hire trade in Harlow is served by two large operators whose 

services include short trips, airport transfers and some premium services.  
Harlow Council has also licensed a number of smaller operators who state that 
they provide specialist high quality chauffeuring services to clients in the 
entertainment and business sectors.  Two of these operators have raised 
concerns with the licensing team about the effect that the policy will have on 

14



their business and they have put forward reasoned arguments in support of 
their request to be granted an exemption from the condition.  Their reasons are 
summarised below; 
 

a. Only high specification executive vehicles are used, 
b. Their investment is substantial and recouped through higher charges,  
c. Their businesses offer a high quality service, 
d. They do not undertake ‘school runs’ or routinely transport 

unaccompanied children, 
e. Clients include persons connected with the entertainment industry, 

entrepreneurs, celebrities and business people who demand anonymity 
because of their public profile,   

f. Their businesses differ from ‘normal’ private hire work which ought to be 
recognised by the Council  

g. Their vehicles qualify for exemption under S75 of the Act regarding the 
display of licence plates.  

 
Operators of chauffeur services have indicated that they will suffer a decline in 
business if they continue to be subjected to the condition.   
 

5.  Unite The Union represents the Hackney Carriage Trade at national level and 
has for many years opposed the use of private hire vehicles fitted with dark 
tinted windows.  Unite’s national position is supported by the Harlow branch.   
 

6.  Harlow Council in common with most authorities will only license a vehicle 
which is of appropriate size and design to enable passengers to travel safely 
and in reasonable comfort.  A range of issues will make certain types of 
vehicles unsuitable, for example: 
 
a. Vehicles with fewer than four doors, 
b. Small vehicles such as a Vauxhall Corsa, Ford Fiesta, Skoda Citigo, 

Volkswagen UP,  Peugeot 108 
c. Large Sports Utility Vehicles high door sills which would be likely to cause 

accessibility problems for people with restricted mobility. 
d. Sports cars and cabriolets 
e. Vehicles with insufficient power to make reasonable progress in traffic 
f. Highly modified vehicles 
 
Harlow Council does not place any age restriction on licensed vehicles.  Many 
licensing authorities do so: some require a vehicle to be no more than 2 or 4 
years old when entering service and no more than 8 or 10 years old prior to 
being decommissioned, for example. There is a wide variation in the practice of 
licensing authorities. The Harlow licensed private hire fleet ranges from new 
vehicles to those over 15 years of age. 
 

7.  An internet search to determine whether other authorities restrict the use of 

15



tinted windows in private hire vehicles was conducted during December 
2017.  Information that was readily available is shown at Appendix 2 and may 
be summarise as follows: 

a. A number of licensing authorities restrict the use of tinted windows in 
the rear of the vehicle.   

b. Some licensing authorities require only that the vehicle complies with 
the legal requirement for windscreens and front windows. 

c. Some licensing authorities do not impose any restrictions or their policy 
is silent on this issue.   

d. Of those authorities that choose to restrict tinted windows, some rely on 
a subjective judgement while others specify a minimum light 
transmittance expressed as a percentage.  This percentage varies 
widely from 70% for example as specified by Runnymede and 
Sunderland (equivalent to the legal standard for front passenger 
windows) to 32% which is specified by Bedford and Carlisle and, 22% 
specified by Spelthorne.  Dudley has 40% following extensive 
consultation with their trade representatives.   

e. Some licensing authorities including Maidstone have chosen to exempt 
executive vehicles/stretched limousines from restrictions on tinted 
windows where the vehicle will not be used for school runs.  Sevenoaks 
has adopted 50% where the vehicle is to be used for transporting 
unaccompanied children unless this is done with parental consent.   

  
8.  The Licensing Team has conducted on-line searches and visited local dealers 

to determine the availability of vehicles without dark tinted windows.  These 
searches included the type and model of vehicles currently licensed by the 
Council and, other vehicles listed as being of concern to the Private Hire 
Association.  The results show that all models are available without dark tinted 
windows.  Some higher end model variants such as Ford Galaxy Titanium are 
routinely fitted with privacy glass and therefore would be ineligible to be 
licensed under the current policy.  New and used Ford Galaxy Zetec models 
are available without dark tinted windows.  Many but not all high specification 
Mercedes and BMW vehicles are available without dark tinted windows.  The 
results from these searches may be found at Appendix 1.   
 

9.  The Licensing Team has considered concerns raised by the Private Hire 
Association in (3) above and has responded below:  
  
a. Many licensing authorities impose similar conditions on the use of tinted 

windows.  A selection of polices may be seen at Appendix 2, 
b. Oxford City Council and Slough Borough Council policies on tinted windows 

currently available on their respective websites may be found in Appendix 2. 
The Licensing Team is aware that Epping Forest District Council has 
recently rescinded its policy dated 26th March 2013 on tinted windows,.   

c. The Council has no knowledge of any statistical data collected by law 
enforcement agencies regarding the direct association between crime and 

16



tinted windows, 
d. The revised condition places limited restrictions on the availability of 

suitable vehicles.    
e. The condition will not bring an end to 8 seater vehicles.   
f. Large operators licensed by other authorities who specialise in seven or 

eight vehicles with privacy glass are not currently licensed by Harlow 
Council.  Under the current licence conditions, proprietors could licence 
Ford Galaxy models in Zetec trim but not Galaxy models with Titanium trim 
level. These vehicles share the same capacity and seating arrangements 
however. 

g. Private hire vehicles may only be driven by a person licensed by the same 
authority and the vehicle may only be dispatched by an Operator licensed 
by that authority.  The law permits a person to apply for a driver and vehicle 
licence from any other authority.   

h. The Licensing Team is not aware of any licensing authority that issues lists 
of vehicles suitable for licensing.  In England, vehicles are available from 
over 80 vehicle manufactures and with thousands of models and optional 
extras, it would not be practicable for the Council to produce a list. 

i. Of the 11 vehicles listed by the Private Hire Association, all vehicles are 
available without dark tinted windows and would be eligible for licensing 
provided all other conditions were met. Further information is given in 
Appendix 1. 

j. It would be reasonable to assume that passengers traveling in the rear of 
vehicles with dark tinted windows would be exposed to less sunlight.  
However, the majority of journey times are less than 1 hour and passengers 
are protected by the roof and tinted windows up to 50%.  Any additional 
protection from dark tinted windows would be marginal and would not under 
any event enhance protection for drivers and front seat passengers.  It 
would be reasonable to assume that some customers would prefer to travel 
in a vehicle with dark tinted windows when travelling to attend court or 
counselling services.  The Private Hire Association has not provided any 
statistical information on the number of vehicle journeys taken by persons 
who wish to travel incognito.   

k. The licensing team is not aware of any wrongdoing in Harlow of the kind 
highlighted the investigation into child sexual exploitation in Rotherham but 
recognises the need to create a system of licensing which reasonably 
reduces the opportunities for criminal activity so safeguarding the interests 
of licensed drivers and Harlow Council.  

 
10.  Harlow’s current policy does not prohibit the use of tinted windows but it is 

intended to limit the use of very dark tinted windows for the following reasons; 
a. To allow licensing officers to see inside the licensed vehicle to determine 

the number of passengers (each vehicle is licensed to transport between 4 
and 8 persons), 

b. To allow law enforcement officers to see inside the vehicle, 
c. To provide reassurance to vulnerable passengers who may otherwise feel 

17



unsafe when travelling in vehicles with dark tinted windows, 
d. To allow unaccompanied schoolchildren to be seen inside the vehicle when 

undertaking school contract work or when being transported 
unaccompanied, 

e. To increase driver safety by ensuring that potential assailants travelling in 
the rear of the vehicle may be seen from outside, 

f. To make licensed vehicles less attractive to persons distributing or 
supplying drugs, 

g. To reduce the likelihood of passengers misbehaving or engaging in 
inappropriate behaviour, 

h. To ensure that as far as is reasonably practicable the likelihood or any 
suspicion of wrongdoing is eliminated.    

 
 
PROPOSALS 

11.  Members of the Licensing Committee wish to consider the following options: 
 

Policy Amendment Advantage Disadvantage 

Remove the condition on 
dark tinted windows 

Proprietors will be able to 
purchase new or used 
vehicles without 
reference to the degree of 
tint. 

Proprietors of chauffeur 
driven vehicles would be 
able to provide a service 
to customers who require 
anonymity.  

Customers seated in the 
rear of the vehicle cannot 
be seen from outside.   

The protection detailed 
elsewhere in this report 
would be unavailable to 
customers. 

Adopt a less stringent 
light transmittance value. 

A wider number of used 
vehicles would be 
available for purchase 

There is a direct 
correlation between being 
able to see inside the 
vehicle and the degree on 
tint.  Darker tinted 
windows reduces the 
ability to see person 
inside the vehicle. 

Provide an exemption for 
executive or chauffeur 
driven vehicles where 
these vehicles are not 
used for school runs and 
for transporting 
unaccompanied children.  
Each exemption to be 

The condition would 
provide flexibility for those 
vehicles used to transport 
customers who require 
anonymity where the 
proprietor gives an 
undertaking that the 
vehicle would not be used 

Customers seated in the 
rear of the vehicle cannot 
be seen from outside.   

The protections detailed 
elsewhere in this report 
would be unavailable to 
customers save for 

18



considered individually by 
the Licensing 
Subcommittee.   

to transport 
unaccompanied children. 

children. 

 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

 As set out in the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

Measures that may avoid crime and disorder are expected to benefit community 
wellbeing.   
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
 The Council must ensure that any amendment this this licensing condition is 
enforceable and provides transparency to enhance the safeguarding of the 
general public.  Provided the Council have due regard to the representations 
received, and is reasonable in its approach to policy making, the Council will 
minimise the risk of legal challenge. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 

 

Background Papers:  A number of links to media coverage and relevant Council 
reports may be found in Appendix 3. 
 
  
  
 
  
 
 

19



Appendix 1 

List of vehicles available with compliant windows 

The list of compliant vehicles below without dark tinted windows was compiled between  

1 December 2017 and 2 January 2018.  The information was gathered primarily from 

internet searches and from visits to local dealerships.   In order to be confident that the 

vehicle would be suitable, a comparison was made between the front driver and passenger 

window glass and the rear door windows.  Only those vehicles where no difference could be 

detected were listed.  Front driver and passenger windows must by law allow a minimum 

transmittance of 70% and therefore there is a high degree of confidence that all listed 

vehicle rear windows would have light transmittance greater than 50%. 
Audi A4     4 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Big Motoring 
World 

7-12-2017 EF63SWZ   £12,500.00 2.0TDi SE   

Premier Cars 7-12-2017 DN14PVY  £11,480.00 2.0TDi Technic 

eBay  7-12-2017 SV08SUO  Auction  Avant 1.9TDi 

eBay 7-12-2017 MF61ESG  Auction TFSi 

Audi A6     2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Walsall Motor 
Company 

2-01-2017 LB56WHZ  £3,783.00 A6 

BCM 2-01-2017 BW57DHF  £4,500.00 A6 

Cardiff Car Sales 2-01-2017 VW60AKZ  £7,491.00 A6 

Car World 2-01-2017 GK13HPZ  £10,161.00 A6 

Car World 2-01-2017 YM63JGF  £10,990.00 A6 

Audi Q7     None currently licensed.  Harlow Council would not generally license SUV type vehicles.   The PHA 

has raised concerns about the availability of these vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Quality Part X 19-12-2017 YG63AEL  £18,980.00  3.0 TDi S-Line 

20



 

The Car Sales Co 

19-12-2017 OE60NTT  £19,965.00  3.0 TDi Tiptronic  

Phoenix Cars  19-12-2017 YP60LWE  £7,995.00   4.2 TDi S-Line 
Tiptronic 

AMT Specialist 
Cars 

19-12-2017 Contact 0121 
314 8249 

 £36,490.00 3.0TDi Quattro 
Auto 

AYR Audi 19-12-2017   £41,000.00 3.0 Quattro 
Tiptronic 

BMW 3 Series    5 vehicles (2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Balaam Car Sales 22-12-2017 YS11EZG  £5,000.00 320d ES 

Amphill  22-12-2017 NJ57XTW  £5,000.00 325i 2.5 

Grimsdyke  22-12-2017 MJ14VFR  £15,995.00 316i Sport 

Autotrader 
Private 

22-12-2017 VO61KOX  £5,000.00 320i 

Eastwoods  22-12-2017 YF56JJK  £5,000.00 330d SE Touring 

BMW 5 Series    3 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

BCM 22-12-2017 CA08FZT  £5,000.00 520d 2.0 

NG2 Cars 22-12-2017 ND57FDZ  £5,000.00 520d 2.0 SE 

Autotrader 
Private 

22-12-2017 YF58LRY   520d 2.0 M-
Sport 

Burford Car 
Sales 

22-12-2017 SW11TZT  £12,990.00 520d 2.0 M-
Sport Touring 

Arnold Clark 22-12-2017 GU65FBG  £20,000.00 520d 2.0 M-
Sport Auto 

Big Motoring 
World 

22-12-2017 DV65EWK  £20,000.00 520d 2.0 M-
Sport Touring 

BMW 7 Series  no vehicles currently licensed (December 2017) 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window Price Model 

21



Compliant? 

Falcon Motors 8-12-2017 MA08ASZ  £5,500.00 730d 

Hilton Car 
Supermarket 

8-12-2017 VK59MJJ  £11,485.00 730d 242bhp 

Hanar Cars Ltd 8-12-2017 MT59GGO  £12,490.00 730d 

Car Giant 8-12-2017 NK63PUE  £17,000.00 730d 

Big Motoring 
World 

8-12-2017 FC16PGE  £34,000.00 730d M Sport 

Car Giant 8-12-2017 CA16YCF  £36,499.00 730d M Sport 

Citroen Xsara Picasso  3 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Portfield 14-12-2017 HY06PXD  £1,795.00 1.6 Exclusive 

Racecourse 
Garage 

14-12-2017 WG07XGB  £1,995.00 1.6HDi VTX 

Maidock Cars 14-12-2017 LL58OGF  £2,000.00 1.6HDi VTX 

Worksop 
Bargain Cars 

14-12-2017 FY09BZM  £2,000.00 1.6HDi Desire 

CSB Autos Ltd 14-12-2017 AV10OSD  £3,495.00 1.6 Desire 

Citroen C4 Picasso    None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017).  The PHA has raised 

concerns about the availability of these vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Motor Depot 19-12-2017 SN64YLG  £8,398.00 1.6HDi VTR+ 

Slip End Garage 19-12-2017 LT64WVP  £11,495.00 1.6 e-HDi 

Old Welwyn 
Motors 

19-12-2017 GV08TJU  £1,500.00 1.6HDi SX 

Mazz Motors 19-12-2017 KN57ZBD  £2,500.00 1.6HDi SX 

G5 Cars 19-12-2017 LD59AYN  £4,990.00 1.6VTi 

GBI Cars 19-12-2017 GL60WTD  - VTR Plus HDi 

Citroen C8         1 vehicle (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

22



Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Tolworth Cars 14-12-2017 HV08CZD  £3,200.00 2.0HDi SX 

Car Deal Ltd 14-12-2017 CY56FRR  £3,990.00 2.0SX 

G2 14-12-2017 LE07BOX  £3,990.00 2.0HDi 

Car Deal Ltd 14-12-2017 HS55GJU  £3,995.00 2.0HDi Exclusive 

Pinewood 
Motors 

14-12-2017 RJ57JVD  £4,295.00 2.0HDi Exclusive 

LNK motors 14-12-2017 SO08FNH  £4,500.00 2.0HDi SX 

Ford C-Max    2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Gates 1-12-2017 EK17JKF  £13,799.00 Zetec 

Gates 1-12-2017 EO17OYZ  £18,699.00 TDCi Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 EG66KHV  £13,299.00 TDCi 

Gates 1-12-2017 EO64UWR  £8,799.00 1.6TDCi 
Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 LK64UTU  £9,500.00 1.6TDCi Zetec 

Ford Focus     52 vehicles (20% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model/Trim 

Gates 1-12-2017 KU66TVO  £13,499.00 TDi Titanium 
Estate 

Gates 1-12-2017 EJ14BYK  £8,799.00 TDi Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 YE62ONV  £7,699.00 1.0 Zetec (100PS) 

Gates 1-12-2017 EK61YAY  £9,299.00 2.0 Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 OU65UWU  £11,299.00 1.0 Zetec (125PS) 

Gates 1-12-2017 BD14KKY  £9,499.00 1.6 Zetec 

Ford Galaxy    23 vehicles (9% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017.   The PHA has raised concerns 

about the availability of these vehicles.  The ‘Titanium’ variant does not appear to be available without privacy 
glass. 

23



Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model/Trim 

Gates 1-12-2017 EX64WGP  £14,299.00 1.6 TDCI Zetec 

Silverdale Cars 1-12-2107 19200785274 
eBay 

 £17,995.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 

Goodmayes 
Motors 

1-12-2107 YT13WLO  £13,000.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 

Runabouts 1-12-2107 MK56WBX  £4,981.00 2.0 TDCI Ghia 

Evans Halshaw 1-12-2107 CU64MYZ  £13.181.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 

Solo Car Sales 12 -12-2107 VU12XYG  £8,999.00 1.6 TDCI Zetec 

PSD Car Sales 12 -12-2107 MV11YUO  £7,295.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 

Trade link of 
Devon 

12 -12-2107 DV62FZD  £8,899.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 
Powershift 

CMW Car Sales 12 -12-2107 AF62KZW  £10,495.00 2.0 TDCI Zetec 
start stop 

Car Giant 12 -12-2107 DK64VTU  £13,499.00 2.0 TDCI 140 

Pentagon 12 -12-2107 DG61FHL  £9,000.00 1.6 TDCI Zetec 
start stop 

Motor Arena 12 -12-2107 NJ59OWK  £3,490.00 1.8TDCi Zetec 

Ford Mondeo   16 vehicles (6% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Gates 1-12-2017 AK16EGF  £17,000.00 TDCi Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 EG66DXR  £17,799.00 TDCi Titanium 

Gates 1-12-2017 AK15GDU  £14,600.00 TDCi Zetec 

Hilton Car 
Supermarket 

13-12-2017 NA08NNL  £2,285.00 1.8TDCi Zetec 

Phoenix Cars 13-12-2017 EJ09ACV  £2,795.00 2.0TDCi Zetec 

Autotrader 
private seller 

13-12-2017 VU60TWX  £2,700.00 1.8TDCi Zetec 

Ford S Max   None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017).  The PHA has raised concerns 

about the availability of these vehicles.  The ‘Titanium’ variant does not appear to be available without privacy 

24



glass. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Car Giant 2-01-2018 HF64NTJ  £11,000.00 1.6 TDCi Zetec 

Car Giant 2-01-2018 LS64JYA  £11,000.00 1.6 TDCi Zetec 

Car Giant 2-01-2018 RO14NLZ  £11,000.00 1.6 TDCi Zetec 

The Car Sales Co 2-01-2018 NG64HFE  £11,275.00 1.6 TDCi Zetec 

Lookers 2-01-2018 AO64PFK  £12,250.00 2.0 TDCi Zetec 
Power Shift 

Ford Torneo    1 vehicle (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Autotrader 
Private 

5-12-2017 AF14YMJ  £9,950.00 2.2 TDCi 

Midhire Van 
Sales 

5-12-2017 YS66CCE  £18,250.00 2.0 TDCi Euro 6 

Big Van World 5-12-2017 HN65TZG  £18,495.00 2.2TDCi 

Autotrader 
Eden 

Commercials 

5-12-2017 2015  £16,995.00 2.2TDCi 

Imperial Cars 5-12-2017 EY65WRW  £15,990.00 2.2TDCi 

Ford Transit     1 vehicle (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

JR Commercials 13-12-2017 MK60EGF  £3,290.00 Diesel 

Arnold Clark 13-12-2017 SB63OEM  £10,500.00 2.2TDCi 

Autotrader 13-12-2017 YT08WBP  £4,995.00 2.4TDCi 

M4 Sales 13-12-2017 YN63XTP  £10,995.00 2.2TDCi 

Local Motors 13-12-2017 HY61NVK  £8,995.00 2.2TDCi 

Honda Civic    3 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry date Registration Tinted Window Price Model 

25



Compliant? 

Avalon 02-01-2018 ML16LFZ  £12,699.00 1.6i D-Tec 

Pentagon 02-01-2018 YN13WXS  £8,495.00 1.8i V-Tec 

Quality P X 02-01-2018 SA57HSW  £3,380.00 1.8i V-Tec 

Car Corner 02-01-2018 RO57CHF  £3,595.00 2.2 CDTi 

Pentagon 02-01-2018 NG65BVP  £11,000.00 1.6i D-Tec 

Kia Carens     2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017    

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Scott Ballie Cars 15-12-2017 VO08LBV  £3,750.00 2.5GRDi 

Robinsons 15-12-2017 EY58YFF  £3,890.00 2.0GRDi 

West Drive Kia 15-12-2017 EA67CXU  £23,995.00 1.7GRDi 

Tolworth Cars 15-12-2017 LC56ROU  £798.00 2.0GRDi 

GM City Motors 15-12-2017 FV56HTG  £1,290.00 2.0GS 

CSF Motors 15-12-2017 DS59RUY  £3,985.00 2.0GRDi 

Kia Sedona    2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Scott Ballie Cars 15-12-2017 SB10AMU  £5,995.00 2.2CRDi 

Racecourse Garage 15-12-2017 HG10BXB  £6,495.00 2.2CRDi 

Birmingham 
Car Centre 

15-12-2017 DE57FDV  £2,695.00 2.9CRDi 

HGCC 15-12-2017 YT07AZC  £2,999.00 2.9GS 

Read Hyundai 15-12-2017 FY12GOU  £7,791.00 2.2CRDi 

Kia Sorento    No vehicles are currently licensed.  The PHA has raised concerns about the availability of these 

vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Auto Devotion 2-01-2018 FY08KBE  £4,490.00 1.9d 

26



Barkers 2-01-2018 LB60PVF  £8,275.00 2.2 CRD KX 

Kia Motors 2-01-2018 DG11ONR  £9,690.00 2.2 CRD KX 
4WD 

Sascron 2-01-2018 LD61UDJ  LD61UDJ 2.2 CRD KX 

Land Rover Discovery.   No Discovery vehicles are currently licensed.  Harlow Council would not generally 

license SUV type vehicles.  The PHA has raised concerns about the availability of these vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Hunters 
Guildford 

22-12-2017 LF67HZL  £45,999.00 2.0 SD4 SE 
Auto 

Lakeland 22-12-2017 PJ17HJC  £45,999.00 2.0 SD4 SE 

Hunters Derby 22-12-2017 FG67CHF  £45,999.00 SW 2.0 SD4 
SE 

Marshall 22-12-2017 OE17EXG  £45,999.00 2.0 SD4 SE 

Hunters 
Preston 

22-12-2017 PF17ZVA  £45,999.00 2.0 SD4 SE 
auto 

Mercedes Vito.  No VITO vehicles are currently licensed.  These vehicles are routinely licensed as hackney carriages by 

TFL with clear or light tinted windows.  The PHA has raised concerns about the availability of these vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Car World 
Supermarket 

19-12-2017 OE65DNA  £18,990.00 1.6CDi 111 
Bluetec Euro 6 

Caledonian 
Truck and Van 

19-12-2017 Contact 07441 
919626 

 £34,020.00 1.6CDi 111 
Bluetec Euro 6 

Autotrader 
Private 

19-12-2017 DA06OKC  £3,695.00 2.1 111 CDi 

RA Freedland 19-12-2017 KR06FVH  £3,993.00 2.1 109 CDi 

Heathrow 
Trade Sales 

19-12-2017 Contact 07826 
676014 

 £4,000.00 2.1 111 CDi 

Broad Lane 
Motors 

19-12-2017 LM09OJW  £4,490.00 2.1 111 CDi 

Autotrader 
Private 

19-12-2017 HX06BXH  £6,600.00 2.1 111 CDi 
traveliner 

27



The Good Van 
Company 

19-12-2017 PX59OSM  £7,495.00 2.1 111 CDi 

Lomond Van 
Centre 

19-12-2017 M22VAN (2008)  £7,995.00 3.0 120 CDi 

Braintree Van 
Sales 

19-12-2017 £9.594.00  £9,594.00 2.1 109 CDi 

Mercedes     22 Mercedes vehicles (<9% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017    

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

V12 Sports and 
Classics 

22-12-2017 WX63XKC  £13,795.00 CLA200 
2.1d 

Motors 4U 22-12-2017 GL63PGE  £13,990.00 CLA180 

Bridge Motors 
(Wincanton) 

22-12-2017 CA14OXT  £13,995.00 CLA200 CDi 

Cowley MC 22-12-2017 BX63NLT  £14,995.00 CLA180 
Sport 

Car Giant 22-12-2017 WR65JKY  £18,499.00 CLA 200 D 
Sport 

Motor Depot 22-12-2017 KT15KTV  £17,498.00 CLA200 
2.2d estate 

Big Motoring 
World 

22-12-2017 WF64DEU  £24,000.00 ML350 
Bluetec 

Cartime 22-12-2017 YK14YOX  £16,500.00 CLA220 CDi 

Marshall 22-12-2017 HT17YXS  £26,000.00 CLA220d 

Lookers 22-12-2017 NL65LUY  £25,000.00 C300 Electric 
Diesel 

Mercedes of 
Bedford 

22-12-2017 KU17LFB  £25,000.00 C250d 

PCI Garage 22-12-2017 FE65OTJ  £25,000.00 E350AMG 

MB Brent Park 22-12-2017 BD12GYA  £29,990.00 CLS 5.5AMG 

MB of Giffnock 22-12-2017 KM16UXB  £25,052.00 E220d 

MB Temple 
Fortune 

22-12-2017 KM16LNN  £25,189.00 E220d SE 

28



Burford Cars 22-12-2017 FV64OME  £25,990.00 CLS350CDi 

MB Park Royal 22-12-2017 WN66SRU  £25,280.00 C220 Sport 
Estate 

MPO Cars 22-12-2017 SJ56YNN  £5,999.00 3.0 ML320 

Clearview 22-12-2017 LS56HJJ  £6,200.00 ML320 CDi 

Lanard Car 
Centre 

22-12-2017 P16TKS (2006)  £6,490.00 ML320 3.0 

Lambert Car 
Sales 

22-12-2017 LX56HFW  £5,994.00 S320CDi S 
Class 

Autotrader 
Private 

22-12-2017 KM58NWV  £6,900.00 S350 

Peugeot 308     2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Curtis Peugeot 18-12-2017 CV64UZP  £7,500.00 1.6 HDi Active 

MinsterGate 18-12-2017 WG16WFH  £10,995.00 1.6 HDi Allure 

Car Giant 18-12-2017 EN14FLE  £6,500.00 1.6 HDi Allure 

MinsterGate 18-12-2017 GU66MKA  £10,995.00 1.6 HDi Allure 

MPO Car Sales 18-12-2017 ML08PCF  £1,495.00 1.6 HDi Sport 

Peugeot 3008    1 vehicle (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration  Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Westbrook 
Car Sales 

18-12-2017 WN59RFZ  £2,695.00 1.6THP 

West Midlands 
Trade Cars 

18-12-2017 KS60BNL  £2,795.00 1.6HDi 
Sport 

We sell any 
car.com 

18-12-2017 BG59DZD  £2,250.00 1.6HDi 110 

A Scott Cars 18-12-2017 LV61WOX  £5,999.00 1.6 e-HDi 

Car Giant 18-12-2017 BK13DZD  £7,500.00 1.6 e-HDi 

Marshall 18-12-2017 FL64OYY  £10,000.00 1.6 HDi 

29



Active 

Peugeot 407    2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Prestige Cars 20-12-2017 KR57BCY  £1,780.00 2.0HDi GT 

Pines Cars 20-12-2017 K80LYD (2007)  £1,989.00 2.0HDi SE 

Kars Ltd 20-12-2017 YG06JFY  £750.00 2.0HDi SE 

Autotrader 
Private 

20-12-2017 FH09FFJ  £2,690.00 1.6HDi FAP 

Inspire Car 
Sales 

20-12-2017 LR11JXU  £2,990.00 2.0HDi SR 

Renault Grand Scenic   None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017).  The PHA has raised 

concerns about the availability of these vehicles. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Auto Devotion 2-01-2018 YN57AOD  £2,390.00 1.9dci 

Prestige 2-01-2018 HV60BHF  £6,490.00 1.7dci 
Dynamic 

Pinetree 2-01-2018 NX62ZCF  £6,969.00 1.6VVT Tom 
Tom 

Car Giant 2-01-2018 BU63HVL  £8,000.00 1.6dci 
Dynamic 

Renault Retail 2-01-2018 LL17SYA  £20,000.00 1.6dci 
Energy 

Renault Laguna    1 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Parkside Motors 18-12-2017 BV07EDK  £1,195.00 2.0 DCi 
Expression 

Brentwood Van 
Sales 

18-12-2017 LV11JZK  £2,000.00 2.0 DCi 
Dynamic 

Scott Ballie Cars 18-12-2017 SW08FFO  £2,495.00 1.5 DCi 
Expression 

30



Pro Cars 18-12-2017 GU10WGD  £3,475.00 2.0 DCi Tom 
Tom 

Moses Gate 
Car Sales 

18-12-2017 HK08VCG  £3,490.00 1.5 DCi 
Dynamic 

Arnold Clark 18-12-2017 LR61FBD  £5,500.00 2.0 DCi Tom 
Tom 

Renault Scenic   None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017).    

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

One Stop Car 
Shop 

20-12-2017 SG10ZNM  £3,985.00 1.5 DCi 
Dynamic 

Eddie Wright 20-12-2017 01724 245570  £,999.00 1.5 DCi 
Dynamic 

G&T Motors 20-12-2017 BV10AEN  £4,745.00 2.0 DCi Dynamic 
148bhp 

Heyseldon 
Skoda 

20-12-2017 PX60WXO  £4,795.00 1.5 DCi Dynamic 
Tom Tom 

Cross Roads 
Garage 

20-12-2017 OE60LZW  £5,495.00 1.5 DCi 110 
Dynamic 

Renault Traffic    2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Just Compare 
Cars 

18-12-2017 LS10CFN  £7,550.00 2.0TDCi 

Newmarket 
Motor Company 

18-12-2017 RJ60JHF  £7,794.00 2.0TDCi 429 

M65 Vans 18-12-2017 WG12EXT  £8,250.00 2.0TDCi 429 

RMB Autos 18-12-2017 NX67OYA  £15,990.00 1.6DCi SLZT 

Seat Alhambra    6 vehicles (<3% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017.  These vehicles appear to 

be difficult to find without dark tinted windows.  Some current licensed vehicles comply with the revised 
condition. 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Trade link of 
Devon 

20-12-2017 EX61UJM  £10,999.00 2.0TDi CRS 

31



Trade link of 
Devon 

20-12-2017 CA12HVB  £11,890.00 2.0TDi CRS 

Car Giant 20-12-2017 DA13YGL  £13,499.00 2.0TDi CRS 140 
ecomotive 

Norman 
Motors 

20-12-2017 MW61TXO  £14,993.00 2.0TDi CRS 
Lux 

North West 20-12-2017 SK58JHJ  £5,500.00 2.0TDi 
reference 

Skoda Octavia   13 vehicles (5% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Auto trader 
Private 

4-12-2017 D17HOG (2013)  £8,700.00 2.0TDI 

Auto trader 

Motorpoint 

4-12-2017 Item reference 
862002 

 £12.999.00 1.6 TDI 

Auto trader 
Private 

4-12-2017 SA06 OZD  £2,220.00 1.9 TDI 

Auto trader 4-12-2017 GJ66GHX  £13,000.00 2.0 TDI 

 Skoda Superb     12 vehicles (<5% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017    

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Hayseldon Cars 8-12-2017 BO14WXE  £10,295.00 1.6TDi 

Phoenix Cars 8-12-2017 LF14XKP  £10,495.00 2.0TDi 

Car Giant 8-12-2017 AF14WVM  £10,499.00 2.0TDi 
Elegance 

Sascron 8-12-2017 AF14WVZ  £10,990.00 2.0TDi 
Elegance 

Car Giant 8-12-2017 HV64UDM  £11,000,00 2.0TDi 
Elegance 

Car Shop 8-12-2017 NK64WKU  £10.777.00 1.6TDi 
Elegance 

Toyota Auris    3 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration, Tinted Window Price Model 

32



Compliant? 

Kapital Motors 20-12-2017 RJ07PHX  £2,450.00 1.6VVTi 

Workington 
Motors 

20-12-2017 TK07AZW  £3,500.00 1.6T3 
multivalve 

Hills of 
Woodford 

20-12-2017 EO09FUA  £4,700.00 1.6 V-Matic 

Better Value 
Cars 

20-12-2017 CE60KSX  £5,991.00 1,8 T Spirit 

London Motor 
Company 

20-12-2017 FD17ETU  £15,750.00 1.8VVTi Business 
edition 

Toyota Avensis   15 vehicles (6% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Go 9 West 20-12-2017 GP08JPO  £2,845.00 1.8VVTi 

Penybanc 20-12-2017 MF61UTH  £5,228.00 2.0D-4D 

LE11 Cars 20-12-2017 FN59ZVM  £5,495.00 2.0D-4D 

Car Giant 20-12-2017 BGZ4047  £9,500.00 1.6D-4D 

Hafod Cars 20-12-2017 CV59ASX  £5,795.00 2.02D-4D 

Toyota Corolla   2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Runnymead 
Motors 

21-12-2017 GU07NVC  £2,995.00 1.6VVTi 

Charlton Cars 21-12-2017 VA06FBC  £1,495.00 1.6VVTi 

Wheelers 21-12-2017 GV06UEN  £1,500.00 D4-D 2.0D3 

LTN Motors 21-12-2017 SF06BXE  £1,500.00 1.6VVTi 
estate 

SM Cars 21-12-2017 FN06GDX  £1,595.00 D4-D 2.0D3 

Runnymead 
Motors 

21-12-2017 GU07NVC  £2,995.00 1.6VVTi 

F Cross and 
Sons 

21-12-2017 YM07KTM  £4,495.00 Verso 
1.6VVTi 

33



DF Autos 21-12-2017 WV56NNJ  £2,999.00 Verso 
1.6VVTi 

Toyota Prius    17 vehicles (<7% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Jemca 21-12-2017 LT16XCV  £19,395.00 VVTi T3 

MK Motors 21-12-2017 MT10HVX  £6,500.00 VVTi CVT 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 LS10EMU  £7,480.00 VVTi CVT 

Jemca 21-12-2017 YN64OFO  £17,997.00 VVTi CVT 
Spirit 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 HD59OBE  £8,180.00 VVTi CVT 
Spirit 

Toyota Verso   2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

CSF Motors 19-12-2017 PO60FFL  £3,985.00 2.0TRD-4D 

Quality Part X 19-12-2017 GL61CLX  £6,980.00 2.0TRD-4D 

Racecourse 
Garage 

19-12-2017 CE61MXK  £7,995.00 2.0TRD-4D 

Car World 
Supermarket 

19-12-2017 NA61ECE  £8,990.00 2.0 Active 
4D 

Car Base 19-12-2017 LS63ZYU  £10,495.00 2.0TRD-4D 

Vauxhall Insignia   4 vehicles (<2% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Peter Vardy 20-12-2017 LR09UOA  £2,200.00 1.8VVT 

Trade price 
cars.com 

20-12-2017 FL61CVD  £2,950.00 2.0 elite 
CDTi 

F&D Motors 20-12-2017 HY10SFJ  £2,995.00 2.0CDTi 

Avili Motors 20-12-2017 BJ09EYK  £2,995.00 2.0CDTi 

RX Motors 20-12-2017 FL09OAZ  £3,395.00 2.0CDTi 
exclusive 

34



Car Giant 20-12-2017 DS14OEF  37,799.00 1.8 design 

Vauxhall Vectra    8 vehicles (3% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Haven Motor 
Company 

21-12-2017 KC07SKX  £750.00 1.9CDTi 

Trade Price 
Cars 

21-12-2017 DE08VCV  £1,295.00 1.8VVT Sri 

Newarth Car 
Sales 

21-12-2017 KH07EGJ  £1,500.00 1.8VVT life 

G5 Cars 21-12-2017 AF08DRM  £2,690.00 1.9CDTi 

Mountbatten 21-12-2017 KY09HNT  £3,495.00 3.0 Elite V6 

Vauxhall Vivaro     2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

JM Motors 21-12-2017 BU12AVN  £7,788.00 2.0D 

Clarkson 
Commercials 

21-12-2017 DX13WMD  £10,380.00 2.0CDTi 

Lookers 21-12-2017 DT16VPV  £15,587.00 1.6DTi 

Free Spirit 
Automotive 

21-12-2017 DP16POA  £16,995.00 1.6DTi 

White Cottage 
Car Centre 

21-12-2017 YL14VMF  £8,400.00 2.0CDTi 
ecoflex 

Vauxhall Zafira    2 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

RS Motors 22-12-2017 EJ13FFW  £6,489.00 2.0 CDi 
ecoflex 

MRB Cars 22-12-2017 SHZ7762 (2014)  £6,785.00 2.0 CDi 
exclusive 

City Motors 
Coventry 

22-12-2017 EK14FON  £6,794.00 2.0 CDi exclusive 
Touring 

35



Niche Motor Co 22-12-2017 EY14ZWC  £6,990.00 2.0 CDi exclusive 
auto 7 seats 

Car Shop 22-12-2017 EJ13AZP  £6,999.00 2.0 CDTi  
exclusive 

VW Jetta    1 vehicle (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 AE56WXP  £1,980.00 1.9 TDi 

Prestige 
Motors Direct 

21-12-2017 AG09AEW  £3,289.00 2.0 TDi CR 

Approved Cars 21-12-2017 FV12NAO  £6,990.00 1.4 TSi 

MW Cars 21-12-2017 EU64VDY  £7,449.00 1.6 TDi 
Bluemotion 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 LV13AVE  £7,480.00 1.6 TDi 
Bluemotion 

VW Passat   10 vehicles (<4% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Big Motoring 
World 

21-12-2017 CD65VZE  £11,500.00 2.0 TDi  SE 
Bluemotion 

Castle Autos 21-12-2017 RX56WGC  £2,295.00 2.0 TDi  SE 

TG Autos 21-12-2017 YF08RVM  £2,900.00 2.0 TDi  CR 

Car Giant 21-12-2017 VE13ADZ  £8,299.00 2.0 TDi  SE 
Bluemotion 

G5 Cars 21-12-2017 HG08KGO  £4,490.00 1.9 TDi SE 

VW Sharan    1 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017    

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Scott Ballie 
Cars 

21-12-2017 AK09RFL  £4,995.00 1.9 TDi 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 FT12USW  £8,980.00 2.0 TDi 
Bluemotion 

Racecourse 21-12-2017 FR11ABN  £8,995.00 2.0 TDi 

36



Garage Bluemotion 

Approved Cars 21-12-2017 K17ADJ (2011)  £9,490.00 2.0 TDi SE 

Quality Part X 21-12-2017 FW13BUO  £11,280.00 2.0 TDi 
Bluemotion 

Volvo S60   1 vehicles (<1% of the fleet) were licensed as of December 2017 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Acres 22-12-2017 HY06WDN  £1,395.00 2.5 D5 SE 

Car Giant 22-12-2017 AV64LNX  £8,799.00 2.0 D4 SE 

Marshall 22-12-2017 AK67OOU  £18,950.00 2.0 D5 SE 
Leather 

Crystal Cars 22-12-2017 SM08UGN  £2,495.00 2.5 D5 SE 

FHM Motors 22-12-2017 AP07MYJ  £2,995.00 2.5 D5 SE 

Volvo S90   None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017). 

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Marshall 22-12-2017 EX67FHF  £30,950.00 2.5 D5 
Power Pulse 

Waterhouse 22-12-2017 KR17UAB  £23,495.00 2.4 D5 Auto 
Momentum 

Holden 22-12-2017 KJ16SFU  £25,000.00 D4 
Momentum 

Paul Rigby 22-12-2017 BT67CPE  £36,989.00 2.5 D5 AWD 
Pro Auto 

Volvo XC90   None of these vehicles are currently licensed (December 2017).  The PHA has raised concerns 

about the availability of these vehicles.  

Retailer Enquiry Date Registration Tinted Window 
Compliant? 

Price Model 

Quality Part X 19-12-2017 AJ59HVU  £6,980.00 2.4 D5 SE 

Penybanc Car 
Supermarket 

20-12-2017 LW07LWZ  £5,990.00 2.4 D5 SE 
AWD 

Prestige 
Motors Direct 

20-12-2017 SK61NGX  £9,865.00 2.4 D5 SE 
Estate 

37



MP Motor 
Company 

20-12-2017 01942 566617 
(2011) 

 £12,495.00 2.4 D5 SE 
Design Estate 

Hilton Car 
Supermarket 

20-12-2017 NL60UNB  £14,485.00 2.4 D5 SE 
185bhp 

 

 

 

38



Appendix 2 

Examples of Policies and Conditions approved 

by other Licensing Authorities 

There are more than 300 district, borough and unitary authorities in the UK.  An 

internet search of taxi and private hire policies and conditions was conducted by the 

Licensing team between 1 and 22 December 2017.  Approximately 100 searches 

were made which reveal that many licensing authorities make use of the powers 

granted under the Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976 to impose 

conditions relating to the licensing of vehicles with tinted windows.   The findings are 

copied below: 

 

Ashford: Tinted Glass.  Vehicles are manufactured and produced with window glass 
in various tints or film coatings from clear to jet-black, the latter making it impossible 
to view into the passenger compartment. The removal of film coating from windows 
is far less expensive than the changing of glass. These heavily tinted windows may 
be of concern to women passengers travelling alone, and parents of children 
travelling unaccompanied. Many of the vehicles supplied with tinted glass are 
acceptable with reference to the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 
1986, however in the interests of safety and reassurance of passengers, tinted glass 
or mirrored glass that restricts all view into the passenger compartment will not be 
accepted on licensed vehicles. 

Aylesbury Vale District Council: Tinted windows. For safety reasons it should be 
possible to observe the driver and passengers being carried.  Many vehicles are 
used for the carriage of children, and vulnerable persons, and for this reason tinted 
windows which prevent clear vision into the vehicle are not permitted except where 
otherwise agreed with the licensing authority 

Basildon: Tinted Windows. All windows fitted to Private Hire vehicles must comply 

with the minimum requirements as follows:  

Front windows (windscreen and front side windows) to transmit 75% of light through 

the front windscreen.  To transmit 70% of light through the front driver/passenger 

side windows. Any subsequent replacement windows shall conform to the above 

requirements. No tinted films or other adhesive materials will be acceptable on any 

part of the windows of the vehicle.   

Other windows (rear passenger windows/quarter light windows/rear windscreen)  

Where there is rear windscreen product advertising, to transmit 70% of light through 

all other windows. 

Any subsequent replacement windows shall conform to the above requirement.  

39



No tinted films or other adhesive materials will be accepted on any part of the 

windows of the vehicle, except product advertising that has been approved, by the 

Licensing Authority, for rear window advertising. 

Bath and NES DIY window tint film kits are not permissible. Tinted glass windows 
are permissible provided that they are only those supplied as standard by the original 
vehicle manufacturer and comply with current vehicle Construction and Use 
Regulations. 
 
Bedford Borough Council (Compliance check) Check that windscreens and front 

passenger and driver side windows have a visual light transmission throughout of 

75% and 70% or higher respectively.  Check that all windows other than those above 

have a visual light transmission reading throughout of 32% or higher. 

Blaby The vehicle shall comply with the Construction and Use Regulations 1986 (as 
Amended) with respect to the fitting of tinted, opaque, darkened or privacy glass 
windows. 
 
Birmingham Only tinted and anti-glare windows fitted by the vehicles manufacturer 
are acceptable. 
 
Bolsover: Tinted windows. The windows or windscreen of any vehicle must allow at 
least 70% of light to pass through it, unless the following criteria can be met:  

- the vehicle is licensed only for private hire purposes;  
- the vehicle is a stretched limousine or prestige type vehicle (see separate 

additional conditions for limousines at Appendix B) 
- the vehicle will not carry children/young persons aged under 18 unless 

accompanied by an adult; and  
- the operator must, unless such a vehicle has been specifically requested, 

inform a hirer that such a vehicle will be supplied. 
 

Bristol The standard has been varied in that the light transmitted through the 
windscreen must be at least 75%.  The front side windows must allow at least 70% 
of light to be transmitted through them.  The remaining windows must allow at least 
65% of light to be transmitted through them.   

Brighton DARKENED/TINTED WINDOWS except light tints and sun strips are not 
normally acceptable in the interest of public safety. The tint should not normally 
exceed a light restriction of 25% for windscreens and 30% for all other 
windows.  (Expressed as the amount of light which is prevented from entering the 
vehicle) 

Bromsgrove: Any vehicle to be licensed for the first time, with the exception of 
special event vehicles, is NOT permitted to have a tint where they conceal the 
identity of the passenger inside. 
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/media/2812017/BDC-HC-and-PH-Handbook-April-
2016-.pdf  

Calderdale Tinted windows will be permitted on vehicles, however, the front 
windscreen must be 75% clear, and 45% clear on other passenger compartment 

40

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/media/2812017/BDC-HC-and-PH-Handbook-April-2016-.pdf
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/media/2812017/BDC-HC-and-PH-Handbook-April-2016-.pdf


windows. A tolerance of + or – 3% will be allowed on passenger compartment 
windows, and this will be absolute. This restriction will not apply to the rear window 
and windows on any luggage compartment areas where no passengers are seated, 
and these windows may be tinted, however there must be a clear unobscured view 
through the rear view mirror. Vehicles first licensed with the Council from 1 April 
2016 must comply with this specification.  

Canterbury: Tinted windows.  No licensed vehicle shall normally have privacy glass 
unless the tinted glass is included in the vehicle’s standard manufacturing 
specification or the vehicle is not used for general public hire but is used for airport 
collection services or for private business hire. See also Road Vehicle (Construction 
and Use) Regulations 1986 (as amended). 
 
Carlisle City Council: Window glass tinted no darker than 32% +/- 2% 

Chiltern District Council: Glazing All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any 
vehicle with a reading lower than the following will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 
75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%. The lower the number the 
darker the tint 

Crawley Borough Council: Tinted Windows.  A proprietor must not affix, or allow to 
be affixed, window tinting to the licensed vehicle without first applying for and 
obtaining permission from the council to do so. 

Dover: Vehicle windows shall have visual transmission of light of not less than 75% 
in respect of windscreens and not less than 70% in respect of all other windows and 
rear windscreen.  No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken 
or tint the glass   on any part of the vehicle. 

Dudley  July 2016 The Taxi Committee resolved to keep restrictions on tinted glass; 

That the Council should continue with its long standing policy of allowing:-  

• 75% of light passing through the front windscreen;    

• 70% of light passing through both front side facing windows;    

• 40% of light passing through all other side facing windows.  

Cardiff Windscreen & Windows.  To be in a good clean condition and free from 
damage. The windscreen must allow at least 75% of light to pass through with all 
other windows allowing 70% of light to pass through. 
 
Central Bedfordshire Tinted windows may be permitted providing they are fitted 
during the manufacture of the vehicle and meet all legal requirements. 
 
Cheshire East Heavily tinted glazing and tinted films applied to vehicle windows are 
not permitted. The visual transmission of light shall be not less than 75% through the 
windscreen and not less than 70% through all other windows. 
 
Cornwall All vehicle windows shall be transparent. Any tint, including manufacturer’s 
tint, which, in the opinion of the Officer inspecting the vehicle, obstructs visibility into 
the private hire vehicle will not be permitted. 

41



 
Crawley A proprietor must not affix, or allow to be affixed, window tinting to the 
licensed vehicle without first applying for and obtaining permission from the council 
to do so. 
 
Doncaster Glass allowing a minimum of 75% light ingress on front windscreens and 
not less than 70% light ingress on all side and rear passenger windows, which does 
not inhibit the ability to see passengers or the driver from the outside of the vehicle, 
is required.  
 
East Ayrshire Tinted windows will be permitted on vehicles, however, the front 
windscreen must be 75% clear, and 45% clear on other passenger compartment 
windows. A tolerance of + or – 3% will be allowed on passenger compartment 
windows, and this will be absolute. This restriction will not apply to the rear window 
and windows on any luggage compartment areas where no passengers are seated, 
and these windows may be tinted, however there must be a clear unobscured view 
through the rear view mirror. Vehicles first licensed with the Council from 1 April 
2016 must comply with this specification.  
 
East Northamptonshire: All glazing must at all times comply with The Road 
vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 regulation 32 with regards to the 
level of tint. The front windscreen must let at least 75% of light through and the front 
side windows must let at least 70% of light through. Tinted films applied to the 
vehicle windows are not permitted.  
 
Epping  The Authority has a duty of care to ensure that all residents, professional 
clients and general customers travelling in private hire vehicles are safe and secure 
at all times and that private hire vehicles are readily recognisable as such. To that 
end the Council’s standard conditions require the display of private hire licence 
plates and door stickers, and forbid the use of tinted windows. 
http://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/s48322/Hackney%20Carriage%20Privat
e%20Hire%20Licensing%20Policy.pdf Please note that this policy has now changed 
and that Epping no longer restrict the use of tinted windows in Private Hire Vehicles. 
 
Forest of Dean Council: Vehicles will not be accepted that have tinted film on the 
windows. However factory fitted tinted windows are permitted.   

Fylde Any window tint must comply with relevant UK legislation. 
 
Gloucester The driver and passenger front side window glass and the front 
windscreen must be clear. However, tinted windows can be fitted to the side and rear 
window glass of the vehicle provided that they were fitted at the time of manufacture.  
 
Guildford In addition, the Council’s vehicle specification policy (setting the Council’s 
requirements over and above the legal limits) on tinted windows states: 

 The windows of any vehicle shall not have been treated so that anything other 
than the manufacturer’s original fitted windows are in use, and 

 The windows of any vehicle shall not have been treated with any tint other 
than that originally fitted to the vehicle, i.e. tinting film. All windows let enough 

42

http://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/s48322/Hackney%20Carriage%20Private%20Hire%20Licensing%20Policy.pdf
http://rds.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/documents/s48322/Hackney%20Carriage%20Private%20Hire%20Licensing%20Policy.pdf


light through for a person 20 meters away to be able to see the number of 
passengers in the vehicle in daylight. 

 
The policy is therefore that tinting, above the original fitted windows, is not permitted 
and vehicles will therefore likely fail the vehicle test. 
 
Halton Privacy glass shall be permitted subject to the following rules:  
• The permitted degree of tinting of glass in front of the ‘B – Pillar’ shall be in 
accordance with national standards  
• The permitted degree of tinting of glass behind the vehicles ‘B – Pillar’ shall not 
exceed the vehicle manufacturer’s specification for the vehicle in question.  
 
Harrogate: The vehicle can have tinted glass behind the “B” pillar, providing it is a 
factory fitted tint and not a retro fit. You must not add tints to a vehicle once it is 
licensed.  
 
Hastings:  No vehicle may have tinted windscreens/windows  
 
Herefordshire  All windows must be clear of any obstructions or damage, which will 
in any way impede the view of the driver. No curtains must be placed over the 
windows and any blinds if installed must not be of a type, which will restrict all round 
vision. All windows must be capable of being operated in a satisfactory manner. All 
windows must be fitted with glass, which complies with the British Standard.  
 
Horsham: Dark Tinted Windows. Vehicles to comply with the Road Vehicles 
(Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and have windscreens which allow at least 
75% of light to pass through and all other windows must allow at least 70% of light to 
pass through. Vehicles should not be fitted with non-manufacturers tint such as 
sticky plastic film or aerosol spray applied to the surfaces of the windscreen, driver’s 
or passenger front windows. 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: No glass, with the exception of a tinted sun-strip 

along the top of the windscreen, shall be tinted to such an extent as to obscure the 

view of the inside of the vehicle under normal workshop lighting conditions from a 

distance of 4 metres. Stretch limousines are exempt from Condition 3.60 regarding 

tinted windows fitted to the side and rear window glass of the vehicle. The driver and 

passenger front side window glass and the front windscreen (cockpit area) must 

meet legal requirements. 

Kirklees  All windows fitted to Kirklees Private Hire Vehicles MUST comply with the 
minimum legal requirements; to transmit 75% of light to the front windscreen and 
21% light to all other vehicle windows. Further, all vehicles must meet required 
standards at annual testing. No tinted film is accepted on current licensed vehicles or 
new applications (with effect from January 2007) 
 
Leeds. Leeds City Council maintains a high level of safety for the travelling public 
when using taxi and private hire vehicles. To support this, it is considered necessary 
to ensure that the Police, Council Enforcement Officers and members of the public 
can always see into a licensed vehicle in outside lighting conditions. This 
discourages crime from being carried out inside the licensed vehicle and it has also 

43



been established that women, vulnerable people and disability groups feel safer 
when they can easily see out of, and others can see into, the vehicle. 
It is now the current practice for different manufacturers to use glass with varying 
degrees of tint as standard. However, irrespective of the type of glass fitted by the 
manufacturer, Leeds City Council will not licence a vehicle unless the glass has a 
minimum light transmission which enables clear vision both into and from the vehicle 
at all times. 
This means that neither heavily tinted glazing, tinted films applied to the windows or 
mirror tints are permitted. In accordance with regulation 32 of the Road Vehicles 
(Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 the windscreen shall have a minimum light 
transmission value of 75% and the near and offside drivers windows 70%. The other 
windows must also have a minimum light transmission 70%. Additionally all windows 
should have consistency in style and level of tint. 
 
Lewes District Council: Blacked out windows. Totally blacked out windows in 
hackney carriages will not be permitted.  However, partially darkened windows may 
be allowed at the discretion of the Licensing Officer. 
 
Maidstone: Tinted windows.  From an Officers point of view, tinted glass affects 
Public Safety and as many vehicles are used for the carriage of children, and 
vulnerable persons tinted windows which prevent clear vision into the vehicle should 
not be permitted.  

Glass allowing a minimum of 75% light ingress on front windscreens and not less 
than 70% light ingress on all side and rear passenger windows, which does not 
inhibit the ability to see passengers or the driver from the outside of the vehicle, is 
required.  The Licensing Office use a device that can measure the light transmission 
through any type of glass in minutes, and provide a read out of the suitability of 
proposed vehicles for use as a licensed private hire vehicles in the district.   

Any stretch limousines and high-class executive vehicles licensed for  private hire to 
carry out executive work only, and not operated on a taxi or private hire circuit, will 
be exempt from these conditions, provided the tinted glass was fitted as standard 
by the manufacturer.  All vehicles licensed must comply with the Road Vehicles 
(Construction & use) Regulations in relation to tinted windows.  The vehicle is 
licensed only for Private Hire purposes.  The vehicle is a stretched limousine or 
prestige type i.e. (Mercedes E Class) vehicle (see separate additional conditions for 
limousines at Appendix 7); and The vehicle will not be engaged at all in any contract 
for the carriage of school children or based around the carriage of children, or in the 
carriage of vulnerable adults;  

The Operator must, unless such a vehicle has been specifically requested, inform a 
hirer that such a vehicle will be supplied.  It is suggested that stretch limousines or 
high-class executive vehicles licensed for private hire for executive work may be 
exempted from the proposed new licensing condition, provided that the dark tinted 
windows are fitted as standard by the manufacturer and that the vehicle is used for 
executive work only, and not operated on a taxi or private hire circuit. These vehicles 
will, of course, still be required to comply with the Road Vehicles (Construction & 
use) Regulations.  

 

44



Manchester Vehicles will only be licensed where the following is applicable:  
There is a clear view of the passengers AND the light transmission meets the 
following criteria:  

 Front windscreen transmission - minimum 75% light  

 Front side door glass transmission - minimum 70% light  

 Remaining glass (exc. rear window) transmission - minimum 70% light  
 
These transmissions can be measured using Taxi Licensing’s ‘tint meter’ when 
presented for testing for their initial vehicle application.  Manchester has an 
exceptions procedure for non-standard private hire vehicles. 
 
Medway Windscreen and front door glass shall comply with legal requirements. 
Medway Council will only grant licenses for Hackney Carriages and Private Hire 
Vehicles that have a maximum tint of 60% (allowing 40% of light to be transmitted 
through on all other glazed areas sunroofs where no level is set. 
 
Middlesbrough 
Window Tints – This condition will be applied to vehicles licensed after 15 July 2010.  
No vehicle shall have tinted windows beyond the following levels:   
Light transmissible through windscreen should be no less than 75% 
Light transmissible through any other window should be no less than 70%  
When testing vehicles, the Council testing centre will allow up to a 5% error margin. 
This comfortably takes into account an error margin of 1-3% recommended by the 
testing instrument’s manufacturer. 
 
Milton Keynes All windows in the rear of a vehicle must have a 70% visual light 

transmission ratio.  The Council test the tints of windows and will fail a vehicle if they 

do not meet this requirement.  Some new vehicles come with manufactured window 

tints – These are still NOT acceptable. 

Newport The front windscreen and front windows must have a visible light 
transmission (VLT) of not less than 75% and all other windows must not be tinted to 
the extent that the passengers cannot be seen. 
 
North Hertfordshire District Council:  The front windscreen, front driver’s side 
window and front passenger’s side window must be clear glass.  Exemption from this 
requirement will be given for original manufacturer’s specification ‘light tint’ 
glass.  The rear windscreens of any vehicle shall not have been treated so that less 
than 75% of light is transmitted through it, and the rear passenger compartment side 
windows of any vehicle so that less than 70% of light is transmitted through them 
unless the following criteria can be met:   

(i)  The vehicle is licensed as private hire vehicle only;   

(ii)  The vehicle is a stretched limousine vehicle (see separate additional conditions 
for limousines at Appendix B);   

(iii)  The vehicle will not be engaged at any time in any contract for the carriage of 
school children;   

45



(iv)  The Private Hire Operator must, unless such a vehicle has been specifically 
requested, inform a hirer that such a vehicle will be supplied.   

This section does not preclude any requirements provided for in any relevant 
legislation relating to road traffic vehicles.  

North West Leicestershire: The vehicle shall comply with the Construction and Use 
Regulations 1986 (as amended) with respect to the fitting of tinted, opaque, 
darkened or privacy glass windows.   
 
Oxford City Council. Windows must be provided at the sides and at the rear of the 

vehicle. The light transmission of any window in any position must not be less than 

that currently required of the front windscreen and side windows by The Road 

Vehicles (Construction & Use) Regulations 1986. For the sake of clarity, all windows 

must allow 70% of light through as tested by a light meter, with the exception that 

upon the fitting of Audio & Visual Recording Equipment to any Private Hire vehicle 

licensed from 1st April 2011, there shall be no requirement for the need to replace 

the standard manufactured rear windows or rear windscreen of the vehicle. 

Powys Council: Tinted windows will only be permitted in accordance with the 

manufacturers or specialist coachbuilder’s specification and must comply with the 

Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) Regulations 1986.  No vehicle shall be fitted 

with any form of additional film to darken or tint the glass on any part of the vehicle.   

Preston The minimum light transmission for glass in front of, and to the side of, the 
driver is 70%. Vehicles may be manufactured with glass that is darker than this fitted 
to windows rearward of the driver, especially in estate and people carrier style 
vehicles. No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint 
the glass. 
 
Reigate and Banstead Where fitted, the degree of tint or silvering must comply with 
Regulation 32(1) of the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, 
which defines the acceptable standard. 
  
Ribble Valley Borough Council: Maintenance of the vehicle; (save with the 
approval of the Council) have glass in its windows with a minimum of 70% light 
transmission.   

Rochford (November 2017) The front windscreen must allow 75% of light 
transmission.  The driver’s window and front passenger window must allow 70% of 
light transmission.  In other windows, only tinted glass supplied as an original fitment 
at the time of manufacturer of the vehicle will be acceptable and this must allow 
adequate light transmission to provide a clear view into the vehicle to see any 
passengers. Any subsequent replacement windows shall conform to the original 
manufactures specification. Any variation on these restrictions will be at the 
discretion of the Licensing Authority. No tinted films or other adhesive materials will 
be accepted on any part of the windows of the vehicle without written consent from 
the Licensing Authority. 
 

46



Rother The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Handbook states that "all 
windows should be tint free to the extent that the inside of the vehicle should be 
clearly visible at all times...the driver and any passengers should be clearly visible 
when looking into the vehicle from all windows at all times". 
 
Vehicles presented for first licensing will need to comply with this public safety 
requirement.  You may have to replace rear passenger tinted windows even if the 
glass is factory fitted tinted glass.  The rear passenger windows should be no darker 
than the front side windows (it is a legal requirement that front side windows should 
allow 70% visual light transmission VLT).  We have a Police standard tint meter that 
can be used to check rear passenger windows.  If you are unsure, please contact the 
licensing team before purchasing a vehicle. 
 
Rotherham Private Hire Vehicles: All glazing must at all times comply with Road 
Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 regulation 32 with regards to the 
level of tint. A minimum light transmission value of 70% shall be maintained in all 
windows except a windscreen, which shall have a minimum light transmission value 
of 75%.  
 
Runnymede Borough Council: Tinted windows.  The Road Vehicles (Construction 
and Use) Regulations 1986 as amended specifies the minimum levels of light that 
must pass through the windscreen and front side windows. For vehicles first used on 
or after 1 April 1985, the light transmitted through the windscreen must be 75% and 
70% through the front side windows.  The licensing authority recognises that many 
manufacturers fit tinted windows as standard original fittings as either ‘dark tint’ or 
‘light tint’.  
 
There is a distinct difference between standard tinted windows which meet the legal 
requirements and what is commonly known as ‘privacy glass’ which is much darker 
and lets a minimum of light through as well as making it very difficult to see into the 
vehicle. To address public safety concerns around the use of ‘privacy’ glass and to 
allow as wide a range of vehicles as possible to be used by the trade the following 
conditions apply to vehicle windows on the rear windscreen / rear side windows:-  
(a)  All rear windows must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them.  

(b)  No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint the 
windows on any part of the vehicle.  

(c)  Front side windows and the front windscreen must meet the requirements of 
the  Road Vehicles ( Construction and Use ) Regulations 1986.  

(d) Privacy glass shall only be acceptable where fitted to plate exempt vehicles  

In order to avoid unnecessary expense being caused to the trade through this policy. 
It is proposed that any existing licensed vehicles which currently have factory fitted 
privacy glass be allowed to continue to be licensed on a yearly basis until such time 
as the vehicle is replaced or changes ownership (by change of ownership this 
includes the regular use of the vehicle by another driver). This will also allow time for 
drivers to make other arrangements for those customers who insist on vehicles with 
privacy glass.    

47



St Albans – clarification paper on tinted windows 
It has come to our attention that there has been some confusion over the following 
Licence condition: 1.9 Obscure or dark tinted windows will not be permitted so 
as to observe driver and passengers being carried. 
 
To clarify matters we have set a limit to which windows can be tinted. The windows 
of a vehicle to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire will be required to 
let in at least 60% of light through. We cannot grant Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Vehicle licences until all the checks have been completed and all requirements 
and conditions are met.  
 
As of the 1st April 2017 all new Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles and all 
renewals of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles will need to comply with the 
above criteria to be licensed. Our main concern as a Local Authority is the safety of 
the public. Drivers of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles are often entrusted 
with the care of vulnerable persons; this includes children, elderly and young people.  
When we reviewed our Taxi Drivers Convictions Policy in 2016 we included a 
specific reference to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in light of recent developments 
in other parts of the country. One point of concern is that vehicles that have tinted 
windows prevent clear and easy observation of the passengers. It is especially 
important to have conditions such as the one above, in order to be able to view 
passengers in light of concerns about CSE. This is a matter that has been 
highlighted by the Council’s Community Protection Team; the Police and Child 
Protection Services.  
 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/Images/Tinted%20windows_tcm15-58093.pdf  
 
St Helens: With the exception of Stretch Limousines no vehicle will be accepted with 
blacked out windows, as passengers being carried in the vehicle must be visible 
from the outside. In certain circumstances tinted windows will be acceptable. Please 
consult the Licensing Unit for further advice. 

Sandwell MBC: The vehicle must not have tinted or blacked out windows, which 

were fitted after manufacture. Tint film must not be applied to any of the windows of 

the vehicle. 

Salford Vehicles fitted with manufacturers tinted windows will only be accepted if the 
front windscreen allows 75% of light, all other windows must allow at least 70% of 
light to be transmitted through them. Any vehicles with windows darker than the 
above specification and which do not allow the occupants to be clearly visible from 
the exterior will not be licensed. After market non-manufacturer’s tinted window film 
will not be acceptable. 
 
Sevenoaks Private Hire Vehicles with any tinted window of less than 50% 
transmission of light must not be used for the carriage of children and young persons 
who are, or will be, travelling without a parent or independent adult supervision.  The 
only exception to this is that where a child or young person is to be carried as a 
passenger unaccompanied by an adult then it will be for the proprietor of the vehicle 
and/or the operator to satisfy themselves that such a journey in a vehicle with tinted 
windows is with the knowledge and consent of that child or young person’s parent or 

48

https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/Images/Tinted%20windows_tcm15-58093.pdf


guardian and the details of such knowledge and consent, whether verbal or written, 
will form part of the Operator’s Records required to be kept by licence condition 

Shropshire Tinted windows will only be permitted in accordance with the 
manufacturers or specialist coachbuilder’s specification and must comply with the 
Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) Regulations 1986 as amended. 

Solihull If new/existing drivers are licensing a new vehicle for the first time in SMBC 
all glazing shall comply with the ‘Construction and Use Regulation 32’ with regard to 
the level of tints.  A minimum light transmission of 70% shall be maintained in all 
windows except the front windscreen which shall have a minimum light transmission 
of 75%.  Any additional smoked/tinted glass fitted to any of the windows either by the 
manufacturer or darkened by a tint specialist will not be accepted.   
 

If you are looking to buy a vehicle for taxi/private hire uses ensure that no additional 
tints have been fitted to the front windows and that all other glass on the vehicle is of 
same shade/tint. If there is a difference in the shade/tint when comparing the front 
glass to the back glass then that can only mean that the vehicle has tints/privacy 
glass and we will not license that vehicle. 

South Oxfordshire (draft statement)  
The front windscreen, front and rear windows must have a visible light transmission 
(VLT) of not less than 75 per cent so that the passengers can be seen from the 
outside of the vehicle. Only vehicle manufacture tints are permitted on the vehicle. 
 
Stroud Vehicles will not be accepted that have tinted film on the windows. However 
factory fitted tinted windows are permitted. 
 
Slough This policy applies for all licensed private hire and hackney carriage 
vehicles. 
Light transmitted through the windscreen must be at least 75%  
All other windows (both front & rear) must allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted  
Exceptions to limiting the tint on the rear windows can be made providing the 
following criteria can be met:  
the vehicle is used predominantly for contract hire/corporate work where no cash is 
exchanged (and) the vehicle is a stretched limousine or prestige/executive type (eg 
Mercedes, BMW, Audi etc)  
 
South Bucks District Council All vehicles will be tested with a light meter. Any 
vehicle with a reading lower than the following will not be licensed. Front Windscreen 
75%, Front Side Windows 70%, All other Windows 30%. The lower the number the 
darker the tint (identical to Chiltern DC) 

South Hams DC: Tinted Windows The minimum light transmission for glass in the 
front windscreen is 75%, and in windows either side of the driver is 70%, as per 
national guidelines. Vehicles may be manufactured with glass that has less than 
70% light transmission fitted to windows rearward of the driver only. Tinted film is not 
allowed and where currently licensed vehicles have had a ‘tinted film’ fitted after 
being licensed, the film must be removed. 

49



 
South Kesteven Windows.  Vehicle windows shall have visual transmission of light 
of not less than 70% in respect of windscreens and windows to either side of the 
driver.   No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint the 
glass on any part of the vehicle. 

South Norfolk Tinted glass shall conform to the legal requirements of the current 
Road Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations. 

Spelthorne All vehicles must comply with the Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) 
Regulations 1986 and in particular the requirements relating to tinted windows, which 
state that as a minimum: The light transmitted through the windscreen must be at 
least 75% and the front side windows must allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them.  

Newly licensed vehicles will only be considered suitable where all rear side windows 

allow at least 22% of light to be transmitted through them. There is no minimum 

transmission requirement for the rear windscreen. 

Stevenage: For safety reasons it should be possible to observe the driver and 

passengers being carried.  Many hackney carriage and private hire vehicles are 

used for the carriage of children, and vulnerable persons, and for this reason tinted 

windows which prevent clear vision into the vehicle will not be permitted, save for 

when the vehicle is fitted with such an option in accordance with the manufacturers 

standards. 

Suffolk and Waverney Tinted Windows Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) 
Regulations 1986 specify the minimum levels of light that must pass through the 
windscreen and front side windows. Motor vehicles first used on or before 1st April 
1985: The windscreen and front side windows must allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them. Motor vehicles first used on or after 1st April 1985: The 
light transmitted through the windscreen must be at least 75%. The front windows 
must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them. 
 
Sunderland The glazing of the vehicle must have a light transmittance as detailed 
below:  
The light transmittance of all glass fitted to the vehicle shall not be lower than 75% in 
the case of the front windscreen or 70% in the case of all remaining glass UNLESS 
the vehicle is an exempted vehicle, in which case, in relation to all glass other than 
the front windscreen and two front doors:  
- where individual units of glass are replaced, the replacement glass shall not have a 
light transmittance which is lower than the glass being replaced;  
- where all units of glass are replaced on the same occasion, the replacement glass  
shall have a light transmittance of not less than 70%.  
 
An “exempted vehicle” is a vehicle licensed by the Council as a hackney carriage/ 
private hire vehicle on or before 3 February 2003, in respect of which the proprietor 
notified the Council in writing prior to 3 March 2003 that glass already fitted to the 
vehicle other than in the front windscreen and two front doors had a light 

50



transmittance lower than 70%. Note: A tolerance level of minus 4% is allowed in 
relation to the measured transmittance. 
 
Swale Tinted Windows; The light transmitted though the windscreen must be at least 
75%. All other side windows and rear must allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them. 
 
Swindon: Licensed vehicles must allow at least 75% light transmission through the front 
windscreen and no less than 70% of light transmission through all other windows. Any 
vehicle which does not meet this condition will not be eligible for licensing as a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle.  

 
Tameside Vehicles fitted with Manufacturers tinted windows only will be accepted & 
the windows must still allow a clear view of the inside of the vehicle to and observer 
standing outside the vehicle. The authorised officer’s opinion in this respect will be 
final.  Any tinted window film applied after purchase is not acceptable. 
 
Thurrock Council: Tinted windows, including factory fitted tinted windows, which 

have sufficient tint to obscure the inside of the vehicle from being viewed from the 

outside will not be permitted without the prior approval of the Licensing authority. 

Those Hackney Carriage proprietors, whose vehicles have such tinted windows on 1 

February 2014, may remain licensed until the vehicle is replaced. The only 

exceptions to that are likely to be considered are for vehicles with a plate exemption 

or limousines. (please note that this condition is contained within ‘private hire vehicle 

licence conditions) 

Torbay DC The Licensing Authority will not issue a licence to a vehicle which has 

tinted windows that were not in place at the time of manufacture. The manufacture of 

such windows must be compliant with VOSA regulations. 

Trafford The degree of tint permissible is as follows:-  
Front windscreen: minimum light transmittance 75%  
All remaining vehicle glass: minimum light transmittance 70%  
 
Wealden District The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Handbook 
states that "all windows should be tint free to the extent that the inside of the vehicle 
should be clearly visible at all times, the driver and any passengers should be clearly 
visible when looking into the vehicle from all windows at all times".  
 
Vehicles presented for first licensing will need to comply with this public safety 
requirement. You may have to replace rear passenger tinted windows even if the 
glass is factory fitted tinted glass. The rear passenger windows should be no darker 
than the front side windows (it is a legal requirement that front side windows should 
allow 70% visual light transmission VLT). We have a Police standard tint meter that 
can be used to check rear passenger windows. If you are unsure, please contact the 
licensing team before purchasing a vehicle. 
 

51



Wellingborough Vehicle manufacturer’s standard tinted glass is accepted on 
licensed vehicles. However privacy glass; tinted or coloured films or other 
aftermarket modifications to windows are not acceptable.  
 
Winchester: Vehicles with manufactured tinted glass may be licensed with no 
additional tinting. Applicants/licence holders may request window tinting on vehicles that 
have clear glass where they can provide exceptional reasons why it is required and must 
be professionally applied.  

 
Wycombe The front windscreen shall allow a minimum level of 75% light 
transmittance and the front driver and passenger windows shall allow a minimum 
level of 70% light transmittance. 
 
Wyre Forest The glass of the driver and passenger’s front side window and the front 
windscreen must be clear. However, tinted windows can be fitted to the side and rear 
window glass of the vehicle provided that they comply with current legislation. 
 

 

52



Appendix 3 

 
Links to news articles and reports on tinted 
windows  

 
 

Government Best Practice Guidance, Paragraph 30: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-
best-practice-guidance  
 
BBC news report: http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/magazine/6707873.stm  
 
Calderdale Licensing and Regulatory Committee: A search of committee documents 
at Calderdale provides an example of how licensing authorities have debated tinted 
windows over many years: 
https://calderdale.gov.uk/council/councillors/councilmeetings/minindex.jsp   
 
Doncaster report to committee on removing the restriction on tinted 
windows:  http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9685/PHV%20tinted%20gl
ass%20policy.pdf  
 
Doncaster Licensing Committee minutes 
http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g2454/Printed%20minutes%2015th-
Dec-2016%2010.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1  
 
Dudley West Midlands new article 
https://www.expressandstar.com/news/2016/03/05/taxis-driver-in-dudley-will-have-
to-remove-tinted-windows/  
  
Dudley report to Committee 
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBc
oShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiI
A%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMa
QWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnl
g%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3
100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS
%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0C
SQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%
3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d 
 
Dundee Courier. Taxi windows up for debate 
https://www.thecourier.co.uk/news/local/dundee/59333/tinted-taxi-windows-up-for-
debate/  
 
Guildford: The April 2017 newsletter sets out how the Council will regulate the use of 
vehicles with tinted windows: https://www.guildford.gov.uk/article/17608/Taxi-licence-
information  

53

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/magazine/6707873.stm
https://calderdale.gov.uk/council/councillors/councilmeetings/minindex.jsp
http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9685/PHV%20tinted%20glass%20policy.pdf
http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9685/PHV%20tinted%20glass%20policy.pdf
http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g2454/Printed%20minutes%2015th-Dec-2016%2010.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://doncaster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g2454/Printed%20minutes%2015th-Dec-2016%2010.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://www.expressandstar.com/news/2016/03/05/taxis-driver-in-dudley-will-have-to-remove-tinted-windows/
https://www.expressandstar.com/news/2016/03/05/taxis-driver-in-dudley-will-have-to-remove-tinted-windows/
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://cmis.dudley.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=WadgnJ2HONde%2bGoXScI17PPwuis5kN%2bTYbCLJP3FFWiah7VAKSyiIA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://www.thecourier.co.uk/news/local/dundee/59333/tinted-taxi-windows-up-for-debate/
https://www.thecourier.co.uk/news/local/dundee/59333/tinted-taxi-windows-up-for-debate/
https://www.guildford.gov.uk/article/17608/Taxi-licence-information
https://www.guildford.gov.uk/article/17608/Taxi-licence-information


HSE advice on driver safety http://www.hse.gov.uk/violence/hslcasestudies/taxi.htm  
 
Ipswich report to committee 2001 
https://democracy.ipswich.gov.uk/documents/s5730/LR-13-
18%20Review%20of%20Tinted%20Windows%20Conditions.pdf  
 
Ipswich Council reviewed the use of tinted windows at the meeting of the Licensing 
and Regulatory Committee held 28th November 2013. https://www.ipswich.gov.uk/  
 
Lancashire telegraph: report on concerns raised by licensed drivers:  
http://www.lancashiretelegraph.co.uk/news/3724535.Cabbies_angry_at_window_tint
_ban/  
 
Luton Council decision regarding the use of Addison Lee vehicles fitted with tinted 
windows: https://taxileaks.blogspot.co.uk/2016/07/mandate-on-credit-cards-
deadline.html   
 
Parliament written evidence: Responses from the Institute of Licensing.  
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201011/cmselect/cmtran/writev/taxi/m44.htm  

News article on vehicle fitted with blacked out windows: 
http://taxileaks.blogspot.co.uk/2015/12/another-taxi-blown-up-by-bomb-squad.html  

St Albans Council position statement on tinted windows 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/Images/Tinted%20windows_tcm15-58093.pdf  
 
Telford Consultation on tinted windows 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/directory_record/4287/hackney_carriage_and_private_hire
_licence_conditions_regarding_tinted_windows_in_licensed_vehicles 
 
West Norfolk report to committee on tinted windows https://democracy.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/documents/s11507/Appendix%201.pdf 
 
York review of tinted windows fitted to taxi and private hire vehicles 
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s19918/tinted%20window%20report1.pdf  
 

54

http://www.hse.gov.uk/violence/hslcasestudies/taxi.htm
https://democracy.ipswich.gov.uk/documents/s5730/LR-13-18%20Review%20of%20Tinted%20Windows%20Conditions.pdf
https://democracy.ipswich.gov.uk/documents/s5730/LR-13-18%20Review%20of%20Tinted%20Windows%20Conditions.pdf
https://www.ipswich.gov.uk/
http://www.lancashiretelegraph.co.uk/news/3724535.Cabbies_angry_at_window_tint_ban/
http://www.lancashiretelegraph.co.uk/news/3724535.Cabbies_angry_at_window_tint_ban/
https://taxileaks.blogspot.co.uk/2016/07/mandate-on-credit-cards-deadline.html
https://taxileaks.blogspot.co.uk/2016/07/mandate-on-credit-cards-deadline.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201011/cmselect/cmtran/writev/taxi/m44.htm
http://taxileaks.blogspot.co.uk/2015/12/another-taxi-blown-up-by-bomb-squad.html
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/Images/Tinted%20windows_tcm15-58093.pdf
http://www.telford.gov.uk/directory_record/4287/hackney_carriage_and_private_hire_licence_conditions_regarding_tinted_windows_in_licensed_vehicles
http://www.telford.gov.uk/directory_record/4287/hackney_carriage_and_private_hire_licence_conditions_regarding_tinted_windows_in_licensed_vehicles
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/s11507/Appendix%201.pdf
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/s11507/Appendix%201.pdf
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s19918/tinted%20window%20report1.pdf


REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 23 JANUARY 2018 
 

TITLE: HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE  
ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR PRINCIPAL EHO 
(LICENSING) (01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council approval of a revised and 

updated Taxi and Private Hire Enforcement Policy. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Enforcement Policy provides license 

holders with information on Council’s approach to enforcement of private hire 
and Hackney Carriage conditions and legislation.  The existing policy was last 
revised October 2014 and requires updating to take account of changes to the 
availability of driver assessments.  The existing policy is available at  
Appendix 1. 

 
PROPOSALS 

2.  It is proposed that the updated and revised enforcement policy set out at 
Appendix 2 be adopted to replace the existing policy.   
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

As set out in the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

None specific.  

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

55

Agenda Item 13b



Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

 None specific. 

Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
An updated enforcement policy will provide clarity to the Council, licensed drivers, 
operators and vehicle proprietors of the general principles and approach that the 
Council will follow when taking enforcement action to achieve regulatory 
compliance 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 

 
 
 

56



APPENDIX 1 
HARLOW COUNCIL         
   
GENERAL ENFORCEMENT POLICY FOR LICENSING SERVICES 
 
Appendix 1 - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing is governed by the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 
 
Within Harlow hackney carriages are all London Style Black Cabs. They can pick up 
passengers from a rank, or can be hailed in the street. 
 
Private hire vehicles are saloon type cars and people carriers. Bookings for private 
hire vehicles must be made through a private hire operator.  
 
Unless covered specifically within the enforcement policy, where immediate action is 
required to secure public safety this is delegated to the Environment and Licensing 
Manager in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.  
 
Deciding the Level of Action to Take/Decision Making Process 
 
A variety of enforcement options exist including: 
 
Verbal Warning and Advice 
Written Warning and Advice 
Formal Caution 
Suspension of Licence 
Revocation of Licence 
Prosecution 
 
Verbal Warnings and Advice 
 
In some circumstances we verbally advise the offender, clearly identifying the 
contraventions, giving advice on how to put them right including a deadline by which 
this must be done. Failure to comply could result in formal enforcement action being 
taken. The time allowed must be reasonable, but must also take into account the 
implications of the contravention. An enforcement certificate is issued when a verbal 
warning has been given. A verbal warning can be issued by an authorised officer of 
Harlow Council or a Licensing Sub Committee as part of a hearing decision. 
 
Written Warning and Advice 
 
For some contraventions we will send the offender a firm warning letter clearly 
identifying the contraventions. This may contain advice on how to put them right, and 
include a deadline by which this must be done. Failure to comply could result in 
further enforcement action being taken in the future. Any time allowed must be 
reasonable, but must also take into account the implications of the contravention. An 
enforcement certificate is issued when a verbal warning has been given.  
A written warning can be issued by an authorised officer of Harlow Council or a 
Licensing Sub Committee as part of a hearing decision. 

57



Formal Caution 
 
This procedure is used as a final warning and can only be issued by an authorised 
officer of Harlow Council.  
 
For a formal caution to be issued a number of criteria must be satisfied. 
 

 Sufficient evidence must be available to prove the case. 

 The offender must admit the offence. 

 The offender must agree to be cautioned. 

 The offender must not have committed the same offence before. 
 
A record of the caution will be sent to the Office of Fair Trading, and will be kept on 
file for 3 years. If the offender commits a further offence, the formal caution may 
influence our decision to take a prosecution. If during the time the caution is in force 
the offender pleads guilty to, or is found guilty of committing another offence 
anywhere in England or Wales, the caution may be cited in court and this may 
influence the severity of the sentence that the court imposes.  Cautions are issued in 
accordance with guidance supplied by LACORS (Local Authority Co-Ordination of 
Regulatory Services) 
 
Suspension of Licence 
 
In order to warrant suspension of a licence, the individual or organisation must have 
met one or more of the following criteria. 

 

 Breached legal obligations the outcome of which caused a risk to the safety or 
well being of people or material loss to others. 

 Engaged in activities that, or whose conduct, caused distress or the risk of 
safety to passengers or the general public. 

 Failed to provide information or details that if made available may have 
resulted in a licence not being granted. 

 Breached Council licensing procedures or conditions. 

 Ignored a written warning. 

 Where an officer is obstructed, abused, intimidated, threatened or assaulted, 
or any attempt is made to so obstruct an officer, whilst undertaking his or her 
duties. 

 Any other reasonable cause. 
 

When issuing a suspension due consideration must be given to the financial 
outcome that the individual will be subject to as a result of this sanction. 
 
Revocation of Licence  
 
In order to warrant revocation of a licence, the individual or organisation must have 
met one or more of the following criteria. 
 

 Engaged in fraudulent activity. 

 Provided false information in order to obtain a licence. 

58



 Breached legal obligations the outcome of which caused a risk to the safety or 
well being of people or material loss to others. 

 Engaged in activities that, or whose conduct, caused distress or the risk of 
safety to passengers or the general public. 

 Breached Council licensing procedures or conditions. 

 Ignored written warnings. 

 Has had a licence previously suspended. 

 Where an officer is obstructed, abused, intimidated, threatened or assaulted, 
or any attempt is made to so obstruct an officer, whilst undertaking his or her 
duties. 

 Any other reasonable cause. 
 
Prosecution 
 
The circumstances where prosecution is available will normally include one or more 
of the following. 
 

 Breached legal obligations, where there is a significant risk to the safety or 
well being of people. 

 Deliberately or persistently ignored verbal or written warnings. 

 Where there is a history of similar offences 

 Breached Council licensing conditions. 

 Where it is appropriate in the circumstances as a way of drawing general 
attention to the need for compliance with the law, the maintenance of 
standards required by the law, or conviction may deter others from similar 
failures to comply with the law. 

 Where an officer is obstructed, abused, intimidated, threatened or assaulted, 
or any attempt is made to so obstruct an officer, whilst undertaking his or her 
duties. 

 
The final decision to prosecute will be taken by the Environment and Licensing 
Manager in consultation with Legal Services. 
 
Public Safety 
 
When enforcement action is being instigated if there is concern regarding public 
safety then consideration will be given as to whether Section 52 of the Road safety 
Act 2006 should be utilised. 
 
Section 52 of the Road Safety Act 2006 amends the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to give the Licensing Authority the power to 
immediately suspend or revoke a licence where they are of the opinion, which must 
be recorded with reasons, that the interests of public safety require such a course of 
action. 
 
Random Alcohol Testing 
 
Random alcohol testing using a digital alcohol breathalyser meter is undertaken by 
authorised Officers from the Licensing Team. 
 

59



The digital alcohol breathalyser meter samples for 3.5 seconds and displays the 
breath alcohol concentration in BAC%, the UK Drink-Drive limit for which is 0.08%. 
 
Any failure or refusal of a random alcohol test will result in an immediate suspension 
of the private hire driver licence under the provisions of Section 52 of the Road safety 
Act 2006 and the matter referred to a Licensing Sub Committee within seven working 
days. 
 
Driving Standards Agency (DSA) Assessment 
 
When enforcement action is being considered in respect of an issue relating to 
driving standards, then the Licensing Sub Committee can consider whether it is 
appropriate for the licence holder to be required to undertake a DSA assessment 
within a prescribed timescale.    
 
General 
 
An enforcement certificate is issued with verbal and written warnings and will provide 
details of the enforcement action that has been implemented and the reason why. 
 
Details of all enforcement action will be recorded on the Licensing Team hackney 
carriage and private hire licensing management system. 
 
Information obtained through a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) disclosure will 
be used in accordance with the Licensing Team’s policy on the Secure Storage, 
Handling, Use, Retention and Disposal of Disclosures and Disclosure Information 
and the DBS’s own policies and procedures. 
 
Version 1         September 2006  
Version 2                   September 2007  
Version 3         November 2008 
Version 4         January 2009 
Version 5         16 October 2014 
  

60



APPENDIX 2 

HARLOW COUNCIL   
  
GENERAL ENFORCEMENT POLICY FOR LICENSING SERVICES 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
 
Harlow District Council has a responsibility to protect the community it serves, using 
the legislative powers delegated by Central Government.   
 
The ultimate priority of the Council is to ensure that drivers, operators and vehicle 
proprietors licensed by the Council carry out their trade in accordance with both the 
relevant law and the conditions attached to the licences. 
 
Any enforcement action taken in accordance with this policy will be based on upon 
the seriousness of the breach and the possible consequences arising out of it.  
  
Decision Making Process 
 
The Council’s primary duty is for the protection of public safety. In order to maintain a 
consistent approach, this Policy will be considered by the Council when determining 
whether a licence holder is “fit and proper” to hold a Private Hire Driver Licence, 
Private Hire  Operator Licence, or Hackney Carriage Driver Licence.  In reaching any 
decision the Council will have regard to the following: 
 

i. The seriousness of any offences 
ii. The licence holders past history 
iii. The consequences of non-compliance 
iv. Likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options 
v. Danger to the public 

 
Enforcement options  
 
Once the Council has considered all the evidence and relevant information, the 
following options will be considered: 
   

 To take no action 

 To provide oral advice 

 To provide an advice letter   

 To provide a written warning and advice 

 To suspend a Licence 

 To revoke a Licence 

 To issue a formal caution  

 To begin prosecution proceedings 
 

Take no action:  No action will be taken where the operator, vehicle or driver 
standards are found to be satisfactory. 

 
Oral Advice:  There will be occasions when information and advice may be 
provided to a licence holder during the course of an investigation but where no 
further action is considered necessary. 

 

61



APPENDIX 2 

Advice Letter:  Where the licensee’s behaviour or an offence is not serious 
enough to warrant more formal action or where the consequences of non-
compliance do not pose a significant risk to public safety, the Licensing Team 
may issue an advice letter if it can be assumed that informal action will achieve 
compliance.      

 
Written Warning and Advice:  In circumstances where the behaviour or 
offence is serious enough to warrant disciplinary action, the Licensing Team 
may issue a written warning clearly identifying the contravention. This may 
contain advice on how to remedy the matter, and may include a deadline by 
which this must be done.  Failure to comply could result in further enforcement 
action being taken in the future.   
 
The advice may include recommendations that the driver attends a driving 
standards assessment or tuition, local knowledge test and /or communications 
test, delivered by an accredited provider within a prescribed timescale to 
establish the competence of a driver to drive a taxi or private hire vehicle.      

 
Suspension. Whilst each case will be taken on its own merit, generally, a 
suspension notice will normally be issued where the licence holder (individual or 
organisation) has met one or more of the following criteria: 
 

 Breached legal obligations. 

 Has been convicted of a relevant offence.  

 Caused material loss to others. 

 Engaged in activities that caused distress or put at risk the safety of passengers 
or the general public. 

 Failed to provide information or details that if made available may have resulted 
in a licence not being granted or renewed. 

 Non compliance with Council licensing procedures, licensing conditions or 
legislation. 

 Ignored written warning(s) or failed to remedy an earlier contravention. 

 Obstructed, abused, intimidated, threatened or assaulted an officer whilst 
undertaking his or her duties. 

 Any other reasonable cause. 
 
When issuing a suspension due consideration must be given to the financial 
outcome that the individual will be subject to as a result of this sanction. 

 
When considering whether to suspend or revoke a licence, the Licensing 
Authority can use powers under S.52 of the Road Safety Act 2006 (which 
amends the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 by 
inserting s.61(2A) and 2(B)) to immediately suspend or revoke a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers’ Licence if ‘the interest of public safety 
require the suspension or revocation of the licence to have immediate 
effect’. 

 
Revocation. A licence may be revoked where the licence holder (individual or 
organisation) has met one or more of the following criteria: 
 

 Engaged in fraudulent activity. 

62



APPENDIX 2 

 Provided false information to obtain a licence. 

 Breached legal obligations. 

 Been convicted of a relevant offence. 

 Put at risk the safety or wellbeing of persons. 

 Caused material loss to others. 

 Engaged in activities that caused distress or put at risk the safety of passengers 
or the general public. 

 Failed to provide information or details that if made available may have resulted 
in a licence not being granted or renewed. 

 Breached Council licensing procedures or conditions. 

 Where a licence has previously been suspended. 

 Obstructed, abused, intimidated, threatened or assaulted an officer whilst 
undertaking his or her duties. 

 Any other reasonable cause. 
 

When considering whether to suspend or revoke a licence, the Licensing 
Authority can use powers under S.52 of the Road Safety Act 2006 (which 
amends the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 by 
inserting s.61(2A) and 2(B)) to immediately suspend or revoke a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers’ Licence if ‘the interest of public safety 
require the suspension or revocation of the licence to have immediate 
effect’.   
 
Formal Caution:  A formal caution may be issued by the Licensing Authority as 
an alternative to prosecution in order to deal quickly and simply with less 
serious offences and/or where the use of a caution will reduce the likelihood of 
re-offending and where it would be in the public interest to do so. 
 
To safeguard the offender’s interests, the following the conditions will be fulfilled 
before a formal caution is administered: 
 

 There must be evidence of the offender’s guilt to give a realistic prospect of 
conviction;  

 The offender must admit the offence, and 

 The offender must understand the significance of a formal caution and give 
informed consent to being cautioned.    
 
Where a person declines to accept a formal caution, alternative enforcement 
action will be considered.  There is no right of appeal against a formal caution.    
 
Prosecution.  Discretion will be used in deciding whether to initiate a 
prosecution.  Other approaches to enforcement can often promote compliance 
more effectively but there are circumstances where prosecution without prior 
warning and recourse to alternative sanctions may be appropriate. 
 
Prosecution will be considered in circumstances where: 
 

 The gravity of an alleged offence, taken together with the seriousness of any 
actual or potential harm, or the general record and approach of the offender 
warrants it; 

63



APPENDIX 2 

 There has been a reckless disregard of the law, bylaws or condition of licence;  

 There have been repeated breaches which give rise to significant risk, or 
persistent and significant poor compliance; 

 An activity has been carried out without or in serious non-compliance with an 
appropriate licence; 

 A licence holder’s standard of operation and activity is found to be far below 
what is required by law and condition and to be giving rise to significant risk; 

 There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a formal caution; 

 False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been an intent to 
deceive, in relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk; 

 An officer has been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of his/her 
duties. 
 
The decision to prosecute will take into account the criteria set down in the 
Code for Crown Prosecutors.  The Environment and Licensing Manager may 
recommend legal proceedings to prosecute offenders where it is considered 
there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction.  . 

 
Licencing Subcommittee  
 
Current Licensees may be referred to the Licensing Subcommittee for a review of 
their licence.  The Licensing Subcommittee may consider appropriate disciplinary 
measures on a case by case basis.  A referral may take place in the following 
circumstances: 
  

 Where a licensee has received a criminal conviction, police caution or, major 
motoring conviction, 

 Relevant history of the licence holder, 

 Where the Licensing Team has received a complaint(s) about the actions or 
conduct of a licence holder, 

 Where a licensee has accumulated DVLA penalty points for motoring 
convictions; 

 Where the licensee has breached licensing conditions, 

 Where the Council has received non-conviction information which gives cause 
for concern that a licensee is not a fit and proper person. 

 
The Subcommittee may decide to take one or more of the following actions: 
 

 No action, 

 Issue an advice letter or written warning, 

 Suspend a licence, 

 Revoke a licence. 
 
Where cases are referred to the Licensing Subcommittee, the Licensing Team will: 
 

 Give sufficient notice of the date on which the matter is to be considered 

 Give proper notice to the licence holder of the allegations against them 

 Give notice to other affected parties with a right of appearance 

 Allow the licence holder the opportunity to address the Subcommittee to 
present his/her case and provide supporting evidence 

64



APPENDIX 2 

 Ensure the matter is determined in an impartial manner in accordance with the 
rules of natural justice 

 Provide a written notice of the decision with reasons, and details of any right of 
appeal. 

 
In situations where immediate action is required to secure public safety, and the 
Licensing Authority are unable to convene a Licensing Subcommittee within a 
reasonable time, the Environment and Licensing Manager shall under delegated 
authority and in consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee 
take action to suspend a licence.   
 
Appeals 
 
Appeals against decisions of the Licensing Subcommittee may be made to the 
Magistrates Court. Written notification of enforcement actions will include written 
information on how to appeal, if applicable.  This will explain how, where and within 
what period an appeal may be bought. 
  
 
Version 1         September 2006  
Version 2                    September 2007  
Version 3         November 2008 
Version 4         January 2009 
Version 5         16 October 2014 
Version 6          January 2018 
 

65



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 23 JANUARY 2018 
 

TITLE: DRIVER ASSESSMENT 

 
LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR PRINCIPAL EHO 
(LICENSING) (01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council approval of 

proposals for additional providers of driver assessment in accord with 
DVSA criteria for the purposes of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
driver licensing as set out at paragraph 7 of the report.   
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  In September 2016 the Government announced they would no longer provide 

DVSA assessments for taxi and private hire drivers.  Harlow driver licence 
conditions prior to November 2016 required that new applicants pass the DVSA 
test before being licensed to drive a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
for the first time.  The ‘taxi test’ was in addition to the practical driving test 
which most people will be familiar with.  The taxi test provided reassurance that 
new applicants were competent to drive a taxi or private hire vehicle.   
 

2.  During the last quarter of 2016 the Licensing Team researched the market for 
alternative providers of driving standard assessment and identified three 
organisations that had developed products to fill the gap left by the DVSA. The 
Council on recommendation of the Licensing Committee subsequently 
approved three organisations to provide driver assessments. These 
organisations are; 
 

 The Blue Lamp Trust: details of the test may be found here: 
https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/Driver_Training/taxi_driver_assessment.p
hp  

 

 IAM Road Smart (The Institute of Advanced Motorists) 
https://www.iamroadsmart.com/campaign-pages/business-
campaigns/harlow-taxi-assessment   

 

 AA DriveTech https://www.drivetech.co.uk/getmedia/713f16db-f78c-4e99-
a411-c305e21facd9/DTR471-Taxi-Test-Iss4-Apr17 

66

Agenda Item 13c

https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/Driver_Training/taxi_driver_assessment.php
https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/Driver_Training/taxi_driver_assessment.php
https://www.iamroadsmart.com/campaign-pages/business-campaigns/harlow-taxi-assessment
https://www.iamroadsmart.com/campaign-pages/business-campaigns/harlow-taxi-assessment
https://www.drivetech.co.uk/getmedia/713f16db-f78c-4e99-a411-c305e21facd9/DTR471-Taxi-Test-Iss4-Apr17
https://www.drivetech.co.uk/getmedia/713f16db-f78c-4e99-a411-c305e21facd9/DTR471-Taxi-Test-Iss4-Apr17


Officers were asked to review the arrangements after a year and present a 
further report to the Licensing Committee. 
   

3.  The assessment delivered by all three organisations lasts for about an hour 
and is delivered to candidates locally by qualified assessors.  The assessor 
makes a judgement about the driver’s competence, hazard awareness and 
skills in accordance with criteria set by the Driving Standards Agency.  The 
Licensing Team has not received any negative feedback from the Private Hire 
Association, Unite the Union or new applicants and with the exception of the 
‘wheelchair’ assessment, the new arrangements appear to be working 
satisfactorily.    
 

4.  There are currently no adapted private hire vehicles which are suitable for 
transporting a person while seated in a wheelchair whereas the Hackney 
Carriage fleet comprises London style black taxis which are suitable to 
transport persons while seated in some, but not all wheelchairs.  Therefore, 
prospective Hackney Carriage drivers need to be aware of how best to assist 
persons in wheelchairs and how to properly secure the wheelchair.  This 
additional assessment is not yet available from all current providers.   
 

5.  
The licensing team has approached ‘Green Penny’ who provides a range of 
products including driver assessments, and wheelchair assessments. 
Wheelchair assessments test the applicant’s ability to safely load, unload and 
secure a wheelchair user in their vehicle.  The inclusion of an additional 
provider will give applicants more choice and serve the needs of persons who 
intend to drive Hackney Carriages or adapted vehicles. 
http://www.greenpenny.co.uk/taxi-driver-assessment  
 

6.  The above assessments provide reassurance to the Council that an applicant 
has the necessary skill to drive a licensed vehicle but the assessment does not 
provide the applicant any learning opportunity.  A small number of local 
authorities are reported to have replaced the assessment with a ½ day driving 
course which enables the assessor to provide the candidate with some tips and 
tuition.  Candidates who possess the necessary skill are awarded a pass 
certificate.  The cost is approximately £200.00 which is double the cost of the 
standard assessment.  An example of such a course is shown in Appendix 1.   

 
PROPOSALS 

7.  
Proposal Advantage Disadvantage 

Add Green Penny as 
an approved provider of 
driver assessment to 
DVSA criteria. 

More driver choice. 

‘Wheelchair’ 
assessment availability. 

None identified. 

67

http://www.greenpenny.co.uk/taxi-driver-assessment


Recognise for licensing 
purposes and promote 
the benefits of 
combined tuition and 
assessment as an 
alternative to the 
‘standard’ assessment. 

Learning opportunity for 
the instructor to provide 
tuition alongside the 
assessment. 

Increased driver skills. 

Safer transport. 

Higher costs. 

Authorise the Licensing 
Team to accredit other 
providers offering 
assessment or training 
with assessment to 
criteria set by DVSA as 
and when they come   
to the Council’s 
attention. 

Increased competition.  

Greater flexibility for 
applicants.   

 

None identified. 

Require applicants 
proposing to drive 
vehicles constructed or 
adapted to safely carry 
passengers in a 
wheelchair to be 
assessed by an 
organisation offering a 
wheelchair assessment 
as part of the driver 
assessment 

Maintain confidence of 
the Council and 
travelling public that 
drivers of such vehicles 
are aware of and 
competent to deal with 
the issues connected 
with safely and 
securely carrying 
passengers in  
wheelchairs   

At this time not all 
organisations are able 
to offer wheelchair 
assessments. 

 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

As set out in the report.  

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific.  

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

 None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

68



Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

Ensuring by assessment the competence of drivers of vehicles that can carry 
people in wheelchairs will provide further confidence to the travelling public of 
safety and reasonable comfort. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
The alternative proposals recommended will offer applicants a choice to 
undertake assessments and/or training relevant to their intended service and 
ensure consistency with current licensing conditions 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 

 
 
  
 
 

69



70



71



72



REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 
 

DATE: 1 FEBRUARY 2018 
 

TITLE: APPOINTMENT OF MANAGING DIRECTOR 
 

AUTHOR: COUNCILLOR EMMA TOAL, DEPUTY 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279 446406) 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Brian Keane, Acting Managing Director, is appointed as the Council’s 

permanent Managing Director with immediate effect. This will include the 
duties of the Council’s statutory Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer and 
Electoral Registration Officer. 
 

B Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing, continues to act as Monitoring 
Officer until a Head of Governance is appointed. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  At Full Council on 2 November 2017, it was agreed that Brian Keane, then 

Head of Governance, would be appointed in an “acting up” capacity to the 
role of Managing Director, until the position was filled on a permanent basis.  
 

2.  A timetable for the recruitment process has been planned with the advice that 
the recruitment and subsequent commencement of a permanent Managing 
Director would normally take between six and twelve months, depending on 
the required notice period for any successful candidate. 
 

3.  It was recommended that advertisement of the post should not commence 
until January 2018. 
 

CONTEXT 

4.  The Council has ambitious and well developed plans for the future of Harlow.  
There are significant levels of public and private sector investment earmarked 
for the town. Public Health England’s new Science Hub and HQ equate to 
£480 million of investment and Harlow Enterprise Zone’s anticipated private 
sector investment is estimated to be in the region of £500 million. 
 

5.  In addition to this, the Government supported Harlow and Gilston town project 

73

Agenda Item 14a



recognises the potential which seeks to deliver 16,000 new homes in and 
around Harlow. Harlow itself is also planned to support in the region of an 
additional 11,000 new jobs and 9,000 homes in the Local Plan period. 
 

6.  As Harlow turns 70, there is a rare opportunity for a ‘whole place’ approach to 
focus on the people of Harlow and the built environment to deliver both 
housing and economic growth and the regeneration of the town. This will 
enable Harlow’s existing and future residents and businesses to benefit. 
 

7.  Harlow has a key role to play in achieving the economic potential of the 
London Stansted Cambridge Corridor. As a sub-regional centre, Harlow and 
the wider area is of a key focus for both housing and economic growth, 
playing a complementary role to London and Cambridge. 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
8.  The Harlow Local Plan is reaching a key milestone, with consultation 

imminent. It is imperative that there is a clear and stable key leadership role in 
the context of the Duty to Cooperate Board and the development of the 
Harlow and Gilston Garden Town project. 
 

9.  During recent months the Acting Managing Director has been personally 
involved or leading in all of the major projects referred to above, as well as 
managing the day to day activities of the Council. 
 

10.  At this important time for Harlow, it is essential that the Council has stability in 
its Leadership. The Council has ambitious plans for the future and the 
proposal to appoint the Acting Managing Director into a permanent position 
will provide stability for the Council. 
 

11.  Should the recommendation not be approved then a recruitment process will 
commence as soon as possible. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

As contained within the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
The post is established within the organisational staffing structure and therefore 
the budgeted costs are already included in the 2018/2019 budget framework and 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 

74



Housing 

As contained within the report. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

As contained within the report. 

Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
Head of Paid Service is a statutory role. 

Author: Jane Greer, Monitoring Officer 

 

 
Appendices 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
Head of Paid Service – Section 4 of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989 
provides that it is the duty of every local authority to designate one of their 
officers as its Head of Paid Service. 
 
Returning Officer – The officer responsible for overseeing elections in one or 
more constituencies 
 
Electoral Registration Officer – This Officer is the official appointed by the local 
authority who has the statutory duty prepare and maintain the Register of 
Electors. 
 

75



 

MINUTES OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 

 
7 December 2017 7.30  - 9.45 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Emma Toal, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Youth and 
Community 
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources 
Councillor Tony Durcan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Enterprise 
Councillor Waida Forman, Portfolio Holder for Governance 
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment 
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for Housing 

 
Additional Attendees 
Councillor Lanie Shears 
Councillor John Strachan 
 
Other Councillors 
Councillor David Carter 
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Joel Charles 
Councillor Tony Edwards 
Councillor Michael Garnett 
Councillor Tony Hall 
Councillor Andrew Johnson 
Councillor Stefan Mullard 
Councillor Russell Perrin 

Officers 
Brian Keane, Acting Managing 
Director 
Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
Andrew Bramidge, Project Director - 
Enterprise Zone 
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
Jane Greer, Head of Community 
Wellbeing 
Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
Michael Pitt, Environment and 
Licensing Manager 
Adam Rees, Governance Support 
Officer 

 
 

 

76. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mark Ingall. 
 

77. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

78. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Leader. 

 
79. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 

76

Agenda Item 15a



80. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
None. 
 

81. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  
 
None. 
 

82. PETITIONS  
 
None. 
 

83. FORWARD PLAN  
 

RESOLVED that the Forward Plan is noted. 
 

84. RECENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER, DEPUTY OR 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)  
 
None. 
 

85. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN - APPROVAL OF REGULATION 19 
CONSULTATION  
 
Cabinet considered a report which sought approval of the Harlow Local 
Development Plan Draft Pre-Submission Strategic and Development 
Management Policies for consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulation 2012 (as 
amended). 
 
Proposed by Councillor Danny Purton (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 

A Approved the Harlow Local Development Plan Draft Pre-
Submission Strategic and Development Management Policies 
for the purposes of consultation under Regulation 19 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended). Attached as Appendix A to the 
report. 
 

B Delegated authority to the Managing Director (Acting) in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 
for Environment to make and approve any non-material 
amendments to the Local Plan arising from the ensuing 
consultation and completion of ensuing technical documents 
prior to formal submission for inspection. 

 

77



86. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 2017/18: MID-
YEAR REVIEW  
 
Cabinet considered a mid-year review of the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement 2017/18. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mike Danvers (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The Mid-Year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy, 

attached as Appendix A to the report, was noted and referred to 
Full Council for consideration. 

 
87. QUARTER TWO JOINT FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE REPORT 

2017/18  
 
Cabinet received a report which set out both the Council’s financial 
performance, along with its performance its own performance indicators 
for the second quarter of 2017/18. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner (seconded by Mike Danvers) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet acknowledged: 
 
A The projected out-turn position set out in sections three and four 

of Appendix A to this report for the second quarter (July – 
September) of 2017/18 as follows: 
 
(i) A favourable variation on controllable budgets of 

£213,000 representing -0.35 per cent of the gross 
General Fund Budget. 
 

(ii) A total projected underspend of £495,000 representing -
0.82 per cent of the gross General Fund Budget. 

 
(iii) The Council performed on target or above target for 50 

out of 51 (98 per cent) of performance indicators. 
 

88. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT, QUARTER 2 FINANCE REPORT 
2017/18  
 
Cabinet received a report which provided an update on the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) for the second quarter of 2017/18 and asked that 
Cabinet noted variances in the HRA budget, as well as the forecast budget 
of the HRA and the Major Repairs Reserve. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mike Danvers (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was: 

78



RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 
A Noted: 

 
(i) An unfavourable variation against the approved Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) operational /controllable budget 
of £486,000 representing 0.92 percent of the gross HRA 
budget. 
 

(ii) An unfavourable non-operational variance of £4,073,000 
representing 7.69 percent of the gross HRA budget which 
includes adjustments to capital programmes financing as 
a result of an updated outturn position for 2016/17 and 
reflecting the urgent need to reprioritise the programme. 

 
B Noted the forecast balances at 31 March 2018, of £5,636,000 in 

respect of the Housing Revenue Account and nil in respect of 
the Major Repairs Reserve. 

 
89. CAPITAL PROGRAMMES, QUARTER 2 FINANCE REPORT 2017/18  

 
Cabinet received a report which provided an update on the Council’s 
Housing and Non-Housing Capital Programmes and the approval of two 
business cases. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mike Danvers (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 
A Noted the progress in the delivery of the Council’s Housing and 

Non-Housing Capital Programmes as at Period 6 (1 October 
2017) as follows: 
 
(i) Housing Capital Programme – forecast outturn of 

£22,601,000 (original estimate £18,530,000). 
 

(ii) Non-Housing Capital Programme – a forecast outturn of 
£11,368,000 (original estimate £5,425,000). 

 
B Approved two new business cases in respect of the Non-

Housing Capital Programme: 
 
(i) Latton Bush Centre refurbishment of the Child Health 

Offices (office 29) in order to bring up to a lettable 
standard (£20,000), funded from approved budget for the 
refurbishment of the archive room; work which is no 
longer required. 
 

79



(ii) To install Sensory Play Equipment within the Learning 
Centre and in the wider Town Park, fully grant funded by 
ECC Short Breaks (£33,000). 

 
90. AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR DOMESTIC WASTE AND RECYCLING 

COLLECTION SERVICES  
 
Cabinet received a report to award a new contract for domestic waste and 
recycling collection services. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Danny Purton (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The most economically advantageous tender for the contract for 

the Provision of Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and 
Allied Services submitted by Bidder A be accepted, subject to 
formal contract and satisfactory conclusion of the statutory 
standstill period. 
 

B Head of Place be authorised to issue notification of intention to 
award contracts to the bidder that submitted the most 
economically advantageous tender, and subject to process 
make arrangements for mobilisation of the contract. 

 
C The provisional item regarding separate collection of food waste 

from properties with communal bins not be included in the 
contract to be awarded. 

 
D The provisional item regarding administration of new garden 

waste service by the preferred bidder be included in the contract 
to be awarded. 

 
E The Council’s Charges for collection of Bulky Household Waste 

be revised with effect from 1 April 2018 to more closely reflect 
those made by comparable authorities, as set out in Appendix A 
to the report.   

 
91. LIFT REFURBISHMENT PROGRAMME  

 
Cabinet received a report for the award of a contract to deliver the 
Council’s lift refurbishment programme from 2017/18 until 2020/21. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mark Wilkinson (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 

80



A Accepted the most advantageous tender, submitted by 
Contractor B, in the sum of £1,504,060.97 for the delivery of the 
lift refurbishment programme subject to contract and Leasehold 
consultation.   

 
92. CONTRACT AWARD FOR REFURBISHMENT WORKS TO 

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION  
 
Cabinet received a report which considered a contract award for 
refurbishment works to temporary accommodation. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mark  Wilkinson (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 
A Accepted the most advantageous tender assessed against the 

criteria included in the tender documents, submitted by 
Contractor A, in the sum of £356,261 subject to contract and 
confirmation of Planning Consent. 

 
93. DEBT WRITE OFFS  

 
Cabinet considered a report to write off irrecoverable sundry debts 
amounting to £162,954.99. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mike Danvers (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A Irrecoverable sundry debts amounting to £162,954.99 be written 

off. 
 

94. COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMITTEES/WORKING 
GROUPS/PARTIES AND PANELS 
 

a) Referral from Cabinet Overview Working Group - Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme Proposals 2018/19 
 
Cabinet received a report on Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
proposals for 2018/19 which had been referred to it by the Cabinet 
Overview Working Group. 
 
The Leader said that the matter would be referred to Full Council at the 
meeting on 14 December 2017. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was: 
 

81



RESOLVED that Cabinet recommended to Full Council that: 
 
A Following the results of the consultation process, the 2018/19 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme is amended with effect from 
1 April 2018 as follows: 
 
(i) Accept documentation from the Department of Works & 

Pensions as an intention to claim Council Tax support. 
 

(ii) Disregard the new Bereavement Support payments for 
working age applicants. 
 

(iii) Introduce discretion in regards to Department of Works & 
Pensions notifications for working age Council Tax 
Support claims. 

 
95. MINUTES OF PANELS/WORKING GROUPS  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted. 

 
a) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 20 September 2017 of Harlow Local 

Highways Panel 
 

b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 18 October 2017 of Shareholder Sub-
Committee 
 

c) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 19 October 2017 of Cabinet Overview 
Working Group 
 

96. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

97. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED that the following item be taken in private session on the 
grounds that it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
specified under Paragraph 3 of Part One of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, if and so long as in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

 
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

98. HARLOW ENTERPRISE ZONE - ACQUISITION OF LAND  
 
Cabinet considered a report for the acquisition of land at the Enterprise 
Zone site at London Road North. 
 

82



Proposed by Councillor Tony Durcan (seconded by Councillor Jon 
Clempner) it was: 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 
A Approved Option A, set out in paragraph 19 of the report, to 

enable the Council to acquire the retained land from Newhall 
Projects Limited. 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

83



 

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

13 December 2017 7.30  - 8.07 pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Phil Waite (Chair) 
Councillor Jean Clark (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bob Davis 
Councillor Michael Garnett 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
Councillor Shona Johnson 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
Councillor John Strachan 

 
Officers 

Dianne Cooper, Planning and Building Control Manager 
Mark Philpott, Development Manager 
Jo Maskell, Governance Support Officer 
 
APOLOGIES 

Councillor Sue Livings 
Councillor Dan Long 
 

 

SUBSTITUTIONS 

Councillor Simon Carter substitute for Councillor Sue Livings 
 
 
 
32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Jean Clark declared a non-pecuniary interest as a Little 
Parndon & Hare Street Ward Councillor. 
 
Councillor Simon Carter declared a non-pecuniary interest as Chair of the 
Harlow Area Access Group. 
 

33. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 3 October 
2017 and 6 December 2017 are agreed as correct records and 
signed by the Chair.  

 
34. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

84

Agenda Item 15b



35. WRITTEN QUESTIONS  

 
None. 
 

36. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
RESOLVED that the procedure for the consideration of planning 
applications is noted. 

 
37. HW/OUTAM/17/00372 - NEW FRONTIERS SCIENCE PARK  

 
The Committee received a report on the outline planning application for up 
to 115,200sqm (GIA) of offices, research and development laboratories 
(Class B1), ancillary facilities, new accesses, landscaping, parking and 
ancillary works. 
 
Presentations were received from the applicant’s agent and a 
representative of Harlow Civic Society in favour of the application. 
 
As this was an outline application, members of the Committee were asked 
to consider the general principles of the scheme, as a further submission 
would be required for consideration of the ‘reserved matters’. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
applicant entering into a suitably worded Section 106 Legal 
Agreement (based on the obligations identified within the report) 
and also subject to the Conditions and Informative Clauses as 
detailed in the report. 

 
38. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

39. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

85



 

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

17 January 2018 7.30  - 8.38 pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Phil Waite (Chair) 
Councillor Jean Clark (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Dan Long 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
Councillor John Strachan 
 

 
Officers 

Dianne Cooper, Planning and Building Control Manager 
Amanda Julian, Legal Service Manager 
Mark Philpott, Development Manager 
Jo Maskell, Governance Support Officer 
 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor Bob Davis 
Councillor Mike Garnett 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
Councillor Shona Johnson 
Councillor Sue Livings 
 
SUBSTITUTIONS 

Councillor Simon Carter substitute for Councillor Mike Garnett 
Councillor Tony Edwards substitute for Councillor Bob Davis 
Councillor Tony Hall substitute for Councillor Shona Johnson 
Councillor Emma Toal substitute for Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
 
 
 
40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Emma Toal declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 8 
(65 Fir Park) as she was acquainted with one of the objectors.  She did not 
participate in the consideration of this application nor vote. 
 

41. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

 

Public Document Pack

86

Agenda Item 15c



42. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

43. WRITTEN QUESTIONS  

 
None. 
 

44. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
RESOLVED that the procedure for the consideration of planning 
applications is noted. 

 
45. HW/S106/17/00369 - SWALLOW CHURCHGATE HOTEL  

 
The Committee received a report on the planning application to modify the 
planning obligation to provide an off-site financial contribution in lieu of on-
site affordable units. 
 
Presentations were received from the agent and two objectors (including 
Councillor Joel Charles).   
 
Whilst it was acknowledged that a suitable site may not be found in Old 
Harlow, members of the Committee were keen to ensure that an 
exhaustive search in that location was undertaken initially.  To that end the 
recommendation proposed in the report was amended.  
 

RESOLVED that the Section 106 Legal Agreement be modified as 
follows: 
 
1. The Section 106 Legal agreement dated 26 April 2016 shall be 

varied to enable a financial contribution to be paid to Harlow 
District Council, to be used for the purposes of off-site provision 
of Affordable Housing, with the contribution being for use only 
within the Old Harlow Ward for the first two years and then 
anywhere in the district if the contribution were not used within 
that period. 

 
46. HW/FUL/17/00310 - 65 FIR PARK  

 
The Committee received a report on the planning application for a change 
of use to a mother and baby assessment unit, offering parenting 
assessments by a registered social worker. 
 
Presentations were received from the applicant and two objectors. 
 
Due to concerns about disruption to local residents’ enjoyment of their 
properties (which had been raised by objectors), it was agreed that the 
unit’s operational management plan should include a record of complaints 
received from neighbours.    

87



RESOLVED that permission is GRANTED subject to the Conditions 
and Informative Clause as detailed in the report, subject to the 
substitution of the following amended Condition 2: 
 
2. Prior to the commencement of the proposed use, an Operational 

Management Plan for the use shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the use 
shall at all times be operated in accordance with the agreed 
Plan.  This shall include, but not be limited to, staffing levels; 
times when residents may be permitted to leave the premises; 
times when the garden may be used; and CCTV supervision.  
The Plan shall also include provisions for the submission of an 
annual log of complaints regarding the use to the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
47. HW/FUL/17/00519 - LAND WEST OF NEW HALL FARM, FORGE LANE  

 
The Committee received a report on the planning application for a single 
family dwelling house, together with a separately circulated additional 
proposed Condition. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
Conditions and Informative Clause as detailed in the report and 
separately circulated documentation. 

 
48. HW/HSE/17/00421 - 35 RUSHTON GROVE  

 
The Committee received a report on the planning application for the 
erection of a detached garage. 
 
A presentation in support of the application was received. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
Conditions as detailed in the report.   

 
49. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

50. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

88


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	63 Questions from the Public

	7 Appointment to Committees, Sub-Committees and Panels
	8 Appointment of Council Representatives on Outside Bodies
	13a Referral from Licensing Committee - Tinted Windows in Private Hire Vehicles
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	13b Referral from Licensing Committee - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Enforcement Policy
	Enforcement Policy-  Appendix 1
	Enforcement Policy - Appendix 2

	13c Referral from Licensing Committee - Driver Assessment
	Driver Assessment Appendix 1

	14a Appointment of Managing Director
	15a Minutes of meeting Thursday, 7 December 2017 of Cabinet
	15b Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 13 December 2017 of Development Management Committee
	15c Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 17 January 2018 of Development Management Committee
	Minutes


